MODELING THE THERMAL NICHE FOR PERENNIAL AGRICULTURE UNDER CURRENT AND FUTURE CLIMATE

A Dissertation Presented in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctorate of Philosophy with a Major in Geography in the College of Graduate Studies University of Idaho by Lauren E. Parker

Major Professor: John T. Abatzoglou, Ph.D. Committee Members: Paul Gessler, Ph.D.; Karen Humes, Ph.D.; Russell Qualls, Ph.D. Department Chair: Leslie Baker, Ph.D.

May 2017

AUTHORIZATION TO SUBMIT DISSERTATION

This dissertation of Lauren E. Parker, submitted for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy with a Major in Geography and titled "MODELING THE THERMAL NICHE FOR PERENNIAL AGRICULTURE UNDER CURRENT AND FUTURE CLIMATE," has been reviewed in final form. Permission, as indicated by the signatures and dates below, is now granted to submit final copies to the College of Graduate Studies for approval.

Major Professor:		Date:
	John T. Abatzoglou, Ph.D.	
Committee Members:		_ Date:
	Paul Gessler, Ph.D.	
		_ Date:
	Karen Humes, Ph.D.	
		Date:
	Russell Qualls, Ph.D.	
Department		
Administrator		Data
	Loglio Palvor Dh D	_ Datc
	Lesne baker, Ph.D.	

ABSTRACT

Delineating locations viable for cultivating perennial crops has implications for economics, land use planning, water management, and food security at local, regional, national, and global scales. Provided that growing season water requirements for commercial perennial crops are typically met through irrigation, understanding the relationship between crop distribution and thermal variables is important for informing current agricultural practices, as well as when considering adaptive measures for climate change. Using almonds as an example, the changing geographies of suitable cultivation locations were examined under current and future climate, providing insight into opportunities cultivation expansion and translocation. One widely used measure of assessing the climatic suitability of a location for crop cultivation is the United States Department of Agriculture Plant Hardiness Zones (HZs), defined by average coldest annual temperatures. Evaluations of changes in winter temperatures showed a warming of the coldest temperatures by the mid-21st century, resulting in a northward shift in HZs across the United States and an expansion in the overwinter survival area for almonds. To address additional thermal constraints on species range, comparisons were made between two empirical species distribution models (SDMs) and a mechanistic model (MM) in modeling the thermal niche of almond. Results suggested that while using agriculturally relevant metrics in SDMs may improve SDM results, where data are available, an MM more effectively captures the interannual climate variability that is important for assessing suitability for cultivating perennials. Consequently, an MM was used to model future almond distribution. Model results showed that warmer mid-century temperatures reduced frost risk and increased annual heat accumulation across the northwestern US (NWUS), where such thermal conditions currently limit almond cultivation. In addition to range expansion, warming temperatures also resulted in a compression of crop development and a shift of crop phenology toward earlier maturation. While factors such as water availability, biotic interactions, and competing land use were not considered here, these results collectively suggest that translocation may be possible. Should non-thermal challenges to cultivation be manageable, geographic diversity in crop cultivation may provide an option for adapting perennial crop production to climate change and provide for economic and food supply stability.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would first like to thank my advisor, John Abatzoglou, for his guidance, patience, constructive and fair feedback, and support of my research, my development as a scholar, and my broader career and life pursuits. My appreciation of John's advising style and humor - both in humoring my ideas and in being humorous - made for a rewarding experience that was about as enjoyable as a PhD ought to be. I must also acknowledge my committee members, Paul Gessler, Karen Humes, and Russell Qualls, for their involvement in my degree progression. I am appreciative of their time and energies spent in committee service, and am grateful for their respective roles in an engaging, educating, interesting, and relatively low-stress examination.

Beyond my advisor and committee, I would like to acknowledge Steven Daley-Laursen for his enthusiasm in showing me the ropes of the administrative side of academia, and I would like to thank the faculty and staff involved with the REACCH project for their support and positive feedback on research ideas and extracurricular pursuits. Sanford Eigenbrode and Dianne Daley-Laursen must be acknowledged by name and I am especially grateful for all of Dianne's hard work taking care of funding, payments, scheduling, paperwork, and minutia, allowing me to focus on research and scholarly development.

Taking the science to the people is at the heart of Katherine Hegewisch's work, and I am incredibly grateful for her efforts in translating my research into actionable tools, as well as for her friendship and moral support over these past years. I count myself fortunate to have been part of a lab of both accomplished scientists and superb human beings.

Finally, I must acknowledge others not directly involved with this work but who were no less important to the process: my parents and brother; friends Paige, Sarah, Conni, and Claire; my MoHos, who are in a category unto themselves; and my grandmother, whom I think of often. I owe Mister Gunny lots of treats for his company and daily reminders to get away from the computer. And perhaps most importantly, I owe a debt of gratitude to Tom, whose patience and encouragement have been nearly boundless. Without your support this experience would have been much more difficult and a lot less fun.

This work was made possible through the financial support of the National Institute of Food and Agriculture competitive grant, award number: 2011-68002-30191.

To be interested in food but not in food production is clearly absurd.

-Wendell Berry, Citizenship Papers

AUTHORIZATION TO SUBMIT DISSERTATION	ii
ABSTRACT	iii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iv
ΤΑΒΙ Ε ΟΕ CONTENTS	vi
TABLE OF CONTENTS	
LIST OF FIGURES	ix
LIST OF TABLES	xi
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
CLIMATE CHANGE IMPACTS ON AGRICULTURE	1
OBJECTIVES AND OVERVIEW	2
References	4
CHAPTER 2: COLD HARDINESS ZONES AND SUITABLE OVERWINTER RANGES	6
ABSTRACT	6
INTRODUCTION	7
DATA AND METHODS	8
Results	10
DISCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONS	12
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	15
References	16
FIGURES	21
Supplemental Figures	25
CHAPTER 3: COMPARING MECHANISTIC AND EMPIRICAL APPROACHES TO MODE	LING CROP
NICHE	
Abstract	
INTRODUCTION	
DATA AND METHODS	
a. Data	
i. Climatological Data	
ii. Species Presence Data	

TABLE OF CONTENTS

b. Almond Phenology	
c. Mechanistic Model	
i. Thresholds for Almond Development	35
ii. Modeling Almond Development	37
d. Species Distribution Model (SDM)	
e. Caveats	
RESULTS	40
a. Mechanistic Model	
b. Species Distribution Models	
c. Model Comparison	
DISCUSSION	
Acknowledgements	45
References	
TABLES	
FIGURES	55
SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES	
CHAPTER 4: SHIFTS IN THE THERMAL NICHE OF ALMOND UNDER CLIMATE CHANGE	
Abstract	
INTRODUCTION	
DATA AND METHODS	
a. Data	
b. Modeling Almond Development	
RESULTS	
a. Climatic Controls on Almond Development	
b. Changes in the Geographic Distribution of SVI	
D. Snifts in Phenological Timing	
D. Shifts in Phenological Timing Discussion	
D. SHITS IN PHENOlogical Timing DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
D. SHITS IN PRENOIOGICAL LIMING DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS REFERENCES	71 73 73
D. SHITS IN PRENOIOGICAL LIMING DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS REFERENCES FIGURES	
D. SHITS IN PRENOIOGICAL LIMING DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS REFERENCES FIGURES SUPPLEMENTAL TABLES	71 73 73 78 83
D. SHITS IN PRENOIOGICAL LIMING DISCUSSION ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS REFERENCES FIGURES SUPPLEMENTAL TABLES SUPPLEMENTAL FIGURES	71 73 73 78 83 85

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS	88
Concluding Thoughts and Future Research Needs	88
References	90
APPENDIX A	91
A MATHEMATICAL EXPRESSION OF THE MECHANISTIC MODEL PRESENTED IN CHAPTER 2	91
APPENDIX B	93
COPYRIGHT AND PERMISSIONS	93
Copyright and Permissions, Chapter 2, IOP Science Publishing	93
Copyright and Permissions, Chapters 3 and 4, Springer International Publishing	94

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1 Projected ensemble averages of (a) mid-century warming in TN_{DJF} over CONUS
(b) mid-century warming in average TN_n and (c) the difference in warming of TN_n and
warming of TN _{DJF}
Figure 2.2 Estimated climate velocity of (a) TNn and (b) TN_{DJF} defined as the minimum of
the forward and backward looking calculations22
Figure 2.3 (a) Cold hardiness zones as defined by the multi-model mean of ${\sf TN}_n$ averaged
over the period 1971-2000. (b) Cold hardiness zones as defined by the multi-model mean of
TN_n over the period 2041-2070, showing shifts in hardiness zones over the majority of
CONUS
Figure 2.4 Shaded areas are those where the ensemble average $TN_n > TN_{CROP}$ for: (a) oranges
over the period 1971-2000 (b) oranges over the period 2041-2070 (c) kiwifruit over the
period 1971-2000 (d) kiwifruit over the period 2041-2070 (e) almonds over the period
1971-2000 (f) almonds over the period 2041-207024
Supplemental Figure 2.S1 The number of models that showed larger warming of annual
minimum T _{min} than mean winter minimum temperatures
Supplemental Figure 2.S2 Top row: The ensemble (a) 25 th and (b) 75 th percentile projected
change in TN_n . Bottom row: The ensemble (c) 25^{th} and (d) 75^{th} percentile projected change
in TN _{DJF}
Supplemental Figure 2.S3 Climate velocities for (a) TN_n forward looking, (b) TN_n backward
looking, (c) TN _{DJF} forward looking, (d) TN _{DJF} backward looking27
Supplemental Figure 2.S4 Cold hardiness zones at mid-century (2041-2070) under RCP 4.5
Supplemental Figure 2.S5 Top row: change in TN_n for (a) CanESM2 GCM (b) MACA (c) RCM4
(d) RCA Bottom row: change in TN _{DFJ} for
(e) CanESM2 GCM (f) MACA (g) RCM4 (h) RCA29
Figure 3.1 Overview of the study area, including names of prominent geographic features
and cities
Figure 3.2 Almond (a) and cropland (b) locations and their relative densities on a 4-km grid
Figure 3.3 Species viability index (SVI) for (a) Mechanistic Model (MM), (b) Traditional
species distribution model (SDM $_{ m T}$), and (c) Nontraditional species distribution model
(SDM _{NT})

Figure 3.4 Mechanistic model SVIs for each development stage.	58
Figure 3.5 Environmental variable response curves for the Traditional (top row) and	
Nontraditional (bottom row) species distribution models	59
Figure 3.6 SVI differences between the mechanistic model and the (a) Traditional (SDI	Мт),
and (b) Nontraditional (SDM $_{ m NT}$) species distribution models	60
Figure 3.7 Mean SVI values, binned by almond density, for croplands	61
Supplemental Figure 3.S1 Cropland (>10% density) locations without current almond	l
cultivation shown to have SVI >0.8	62
Figure 4.1 Overview of study area	78
Figure 4.2 SVIs for key phenostages over the historic, early, and mid-21st century period	ods.
	79
Figure 4.3 SVI over the (a) historical, (b) early 21st century, and (c) mid 21st century pe	eriods.
	80
Figure 4.4 The relative expansion and contraction of the high suitability (SVI>0.8) ran	ge of
almond over locations with current cropland densities >10%	
Figure 4.5 The timing of three representative phenostages – chill accumulation (top re	ow),
50% bloom (middle row), 100% hull split (bottom row) – over the historical, early, an	ıd mid
century periods	
Supplemental Figure 4.S1 Differences between SVI when using days post-100% hull s	plit
(SVI _{Day}) versus GDD (SVI _{GDD}) when calculating viability for the (a) historical, (b) early	21 st
century, and (c) mid 21 st century periods	
Supplemental Figure 4.S2 Change in SVI for each phenostage between the historical ar	nd
early periods (a, left), and the historical and mid 21st century periods (b, right)	
Supplemental Figure 4.S5 Robustness of projected SVI as defined by the number of mo	odels
showing SVI >0.8 over the (a) early- and (b) mid-21 st century periods	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1 Phenological thresholds used in the MM and their sources	51
Table 3.2 Climatological variables used in the traditional and nontraditional SDMs	53
Table 3.3 The relative contribution for each variable in the Traditional and Nontraditional	
species distribution models (SDM)	54
Supplemental Table 4.1. Phenological thresholds used in the SM and their sources.	83

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION

Climate Change Impacts on Agriculture

Agriculture in the United States (US) is a multi-billion dollar industry, with farm output alone accounting for roughly 1% of total US gross domestic product (USDA ERS 2016). Orchard crops accounted for nearly 15% of the US agricultural economic sector in 2016 despite accounting for less than 2% of US cropland acreage (USDA ERS 2016; USDA NASS 2012). The bulk of the US fruit and nut crop is produced in California, with the state's orchard crops comprising roughly two-thirds of US total production in 2015 (CDFA 2016).

With wet winters and dry summers, California's Mediterranean climate is coupled with elaborate water infrastructure that allows for widespread irrigation making much of California ideal for cultivating a variety of temperate-region fruit and nut crops. However, recent water shortages associated with the multi-year drought from 2012-2016 in California have had an adverse affect on California orchard production, resulting in yield declines and fallowed land (Bland 2015; Romero 2017; Sofer 2016; Strom 2014). Additionally, warmer winter temperatures have reduced winter chill – a necessary condition for blossom development – in California's Central Valley (Luedeling et al. 2009), and resulted in reductions in Sierra snowpack (Knowles et al. 2006), a critical source for California's irrigation water.

Continued changes in climate are anticipated to produce both positive and negative impacts to agriculture in the US. Warmer growing season temperatures may increase water demand and detrimentally impact some crop yields (Schauberger et al. 2017), and warmer winters may be increasingly problematic for fruit and nut production in California, particularly for crops that require high amounts of winter chill. By contrast, higher atmospheric CO2 may increase water use efficiency and yields in some crops and locations (Deryng 2016), and agricultural productivity and potential may increase in northerly latitudes as climate change precipitates longer growing seasons and a reduction in early season frost risk (Mueller et al. 2015; Peterson and Abatzoglou 2014). Still, while some benefits may exist for certain crops and locations, climate change is projected to have an aggregate negative impact on the agriculture industry both nationally (Hatfield et al. 2014) and in California, impacting not only yield and grower income (Deschenes 2011; Lobell 2006), but also consumer costs (Strom 2014).

Perennial crops may be particularly impacted by climate change. Unlike annual crops, which can be fallowed in years with unfavorable environmental conditions or replaced with

new varietals in response to climatic change, the adaptive capacity of perennial crops to climate variability and change is more limited. High value orchard crops such as almonds and wine grapes cannot be fallowed and have decades-long life spans, requiring significant capital investment to implement adaptive measures such as planting new varietals or relocating orchards (Hayhoe et al. 2004; Lobell and Field 2011). Numerous studies have addressed the impacts of climate change on perennial fruit and nut crops in California, focusing largely around water availability and challenges associated with increasing temperatures. These studies have shown that warming temperatures can negatively impact yields and market value for perennial crops with chilling hour requirements (Luedeling et al. 2009), and increase the incidence of agricultural pests (Ziter et al. 2012). Warming temperatures in California may also increase in irrigation demand (Mehta et al. 2013) and decrease water supply (Cayan et al. 2008), resulting in increased water scarcity (Averyt et al. 2013) that will increase competition for water among users.

One of the grand challenges facing society in the coming decades is to sustainably feed a growing world population with limited land resources and the additional stressors of changing environmental conditions. All signs point toward a future with increased global caloric demands and a climate different from the one in which modern agriculture has developed. The impacts of climate change on agriculture are multitudinous, spanning land use, water resources management, economics, food security, and public health (Boxall et al. 2009; Lobell et al., 2008; Schmidhuber and Tubiello, 2007). Consequently, it is increasingly important to understand the potential for cultivating crops beyond their current range, particularly for crops that may suffer deleterious effects from climate change in the existing range. Understanding the changing geographies of crop cultivation in a changing climate will be particularly important for perennials given the additional challenges in their cultivation. Ultimately, modeling potential cultivation locations for perennials under future climate scenarios provides a first step toward assessing opportunities for crop translocation, which may prove a viable adaptation approach for agricultural systems impacted by climate change.

Objectives and Overview

It is hypothesized that while climate change may negatively impact perennial fruit and nut cultivation in California, climate change may increase the potential for cultivation in higher altitude and latitude locations. The objectives of this work are to assess the potential geographic shift in thermally suitable cultivation areas for perennials by (1) calculating changes in annual minimum temperature extremes and subsequent shifts in US Department of Agriculture cold hardiness zones that provide a climatic restriction on perennial crop cultivation, (2) evaluating modeling methods for delineating cultivar thermal niche under for a perennial crop, and (3) determining the geographic potential for cultivating a high value perennial crop under future climate conditions. This dissertation presents work addressing these objectives individually, each written and formatted for publication in refereed journals.

Chapter 2 examines changes in annual coldest daily minimum temperatures (TN_n), which govern overwinter survival rates of natural and cultivated species, relative to mean winter minimum temperatures. Changes in cold hardiness zones, defined by the climatology of these extreme cold temperatures, are also calculated. While shifts in TN_n and cold hardiness zones are broadly applicable to perennial and annual crops and ornamentals, this chapter also examines how these shifts impact three specific fruit and nut crops: Nonpareil almonds, Hayward kiwifruit, and Navel oranges.

Using almonds as a case study, chapter 3 evaluates three methods of modeling perennial crop distribution: a mechanistic model based on published bioclimatic requirements, an empirical model using standard bioclimatic variables, and an empirical model using horticulturally relevant climatic variables. In addition to assessing the ability of each of these models to capture species range, the mechanistic model also elucidates the limiting thermal factors to almond cultivation across the landscape.

Building on chapter 3, the mechanistic model is used to project the future thermal niche of almond under climate change across the western US coastal states. These results are presented in chapter 4 along with an analysis of how almond phenology and the limiting thermal factors to almond cultivation shift over time and space under climate change. This chapter highlights where almonds might continue to thrive, and where thermal conditions may allow for expansion into novel regions.

While each chapter addresses a single objective of the larger work, collectively they address the potential implications of climate change for perennial fruit and nut crops, illustrating the changing geographies of perennial cultivation in a warmer future. As such, chapter 5 provides a brief conclusion to the dissertation, offering a synthesis of the findings and providing final thoughts regarding some of the knowledge gaps that remain and recommendations for future research.

References

- Averyt K, Meldrum J, Caldwell P, Sun G, McNulty S, Huber-Lee A, Madden N (2013) Sectoral contributions to surface water stress in the coterminous United States. Environmental Research Letters 8(3):035046
- Romero ED (2017, January 25) If These Trees Don't Get Time To Chill, Farmers Will Be Out On A Limb. NPR <u>http://www.npr.org/sections/thesalt/2017/01/25/510571835/if-these-treesdont-get-time-to-chill-farmers-will-be-out-on-a-limb</u> Accessed 14 February 2017
- Boxall AB, Hardy A, Beulke S, Boucard T, Burgin L, Falloon PD, Haygarth PM, Hutchinson T, Kovats RS, Leonardi G, Levy LS (2009) Impacts of climate change on indirect human exposure to pathogens and chemicals from agriculture. Environmental Health Perspectives 117(4):508
- California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) (2016) Agricultural Statistics Review 2015-2016. <u>https://www.cdfa.ca.gov/statistics/PDFs/2016Report.pdf</u> Accessed 2 February 2017
- Cayan DR, Maurer EP, Dettinger MD, Tyree M, Hayhoe K (2008) Climate change scenarios for the California region. Climatic Change 87(1):21-42
- Deryng D, Elliott J, Folberth C, Müller C, Pugh TA, Boote KJ, Conway D, Ruane AC, Gerten D, Jones JW, Khabarov N (2016) Regional disparities in the beneficial effects of rising CO2 concentrations on crop water productivity. Nature Climate Change 6(8):786-90
- Deschenes O, Kolstad C (2011) Economic impacts of climate change on California agriculture. Climatic Change 109(1):365-86
- Hatfield J, Takle G, Grotjahn R, Holden P, Izaurralde RC, Mader T, Marshall E, Liverman D (2014) Ch. 6: Agriculture. In Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment, Melillo JM, Richmond TC, Yohe GW (Eds.), U.S. Global Change Research Program 150-174
- Hayhoe K, Cayan D, Field CB, Frumhoff PC, Maurer EP, Miller NL, Moser SC, Schneider SH, Cahill KN, Cleland EE, Dale L (2004) Emissions pathways, climate change, and impacts on California. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101(34):12422-7
- Knowles N, Dettinger MD, Cayan DR (2006) Trends in snowfall versus rainfall in the western United States. Journal of Climate 19(18):4545-59
- Lobell DB, Burke MB, Tebaldi C, Mastrandrea MD, Falcon WP, Naylor RL (2008) Prioritizing climate change adaptation needs for food security in 2030. Science 319:607-610
- Lobell DB, Field CB (2011) California perennial crops in a changing climate. Climatic Change 109:317-333
- Lobell DB, Field CB, Cahill KN, Bonfils C (2006) Impacts of future climate change on California perennial crop yields: Model projections with climate and crop uncertainties. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 141(2):208-218

- Luedeling E, Zhang M, Girvetz EH (2009) Climatic changes lead to declining winter chill for fruit and nut trees in California during 1950–2099. PLoS One 4:e6166
- Mueller B, Hauser M, Iles C, Rimi RH, Zwiers FW, Wan H (2015) Lengthening of the growing season in wheat and maize producing regions. Weather and Climate Extremes 9:47-56
- Peterson AG, Abatzoglou JT (2014) Observed changes in false springs over the contiguous United States. Geophysical Research Letters 41(6):2156-62
- Romero ED (2017, January 25) If These Trees Don't Get Time To Chill, Farmers Will Be Out On A Limb. NPR <u>http://www.npr.org/sections/thesalt/2017/01/25/510571835/if-these-trees-dont-get-time-to-chill-farmers-will-be-out-on-a-limb</u> Accessed 14 February 2017
- Schauberger B, Archontoulis S, Arneth A, Balkovic J, Ciais P, Deryng D, Elliott J, Folberth C, Khabarov N, Müller C, Pugh TA (2017). Consistent negative response of US crops to high temperatures in observations and crop models. Nature Communications 8:13931
- Schmidhuber J, Tubiello FN (2007) Global food security under climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 104(50):19703-19708
- Sofer K (2016, June 22) The California Drought's Lessons for Food Security. Slate <u>http://www.slate.com/blogs/future_tense/2016/06/22/the_california_drought_s_lessons_for</u> <u>_food_security.html</u> Accessed 14 February 2017
- Strom S (2014, April 20) California's Thirsting Farmland. The New York Times <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2014/04/21/business/energy-environment/californias-</u> thirsting-farmland.html Accessed 14 February 2017
- US Department of Agriculture Economic Research Service (USDA ERS) (2016) Farming and Farm Income. <u>https://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/ag-and-food-statistics-charting-the-essentials/farming-and-farm-income/</u> Accessed 3 February 2017
- US Department of Agriculture National Statistics Service (USDA NASS) (2012) Census of Agriculture. <u>https://www.agcensus.usda.gov/Publications/2012/Online_Resources/Highlights/Farms_an</u> <u>d_Farmland/Highlights_Farms_and_Farmland.pdf</u> Accessed 2 February 2017
- Ziter C, Robinson EA, Newman JA (2012) Climate change and voltinism in Californian insect pest species: sensitivity to location, scenario and climate model choice. Global change biology 18(9):2771-2780

CHAPTER 2: COLD HARDINESS ZONES AND SUITABLE OVERWINTER RANGES

Published in Environmental Research Letters

Parker LE, Abatzoglou JT (2016) Projected changes in cold hardiness zones and suitable overwinter ranges of perennial crops over the United States. Environmental Research Letters 11(3):034001

Abstract

Average annual absolute minimum temperatures (TN_n) provide a means of delineating agriculturally relevant climate zones and are used to define cold hardiness zones (CHZ) by the United States Department of Agriculture. Projected changes in TN_n , mean winter minimum temperatures, and CHZs over the conterminous United States (CONUS) were assessed using an ensemble of statistically downscaled daily climate model output through the mid 21st century (2041-2070). Warming of TN_n is on average ~40% greater than that of mean winter minimum temperatures across CONUS, resulting in widespread shifts in CHZs and an average climate velocity of 21.4km decade⁻¹ resulting in widespread shifts in CHZs. These changes enable a geographic expansion of thermally suitable areas for the cultivation of cold-intolerant perennial agriculture including almond, kiwi, and orange crops. Beyond these crops, warming of TN_n has broad implications for food security and biotic interactions.

Introduction

A number of studies have highlighted the importance of both mean and extreme minimum temperatures to ecological systems. For example, monthly average minimum temperatures have been used for habitat mapping (e.g. Ledig *et al.*, 2010), crop yield assessment (e.g. Lobell *et al.*, 2007), and pest monitoring (e.g. Trần *et al.*, 2007; Paradis *et al.*, 2008). While the distribution of species may not be directly linked to mean annual or monthly temperatures, extreme minimum temperatures have established links to the overwinter survival rates of insects (e.g. Bale, 1996; Stahl *et al.*, 2006) and plants (Alden and Hermann, 1971; Vetaas, 2002). Consequently, extreme minimum temperatures provide constraints on the potential geographic range of natural and cultivated species (e.g. Woodward *et al.*, 2004), and can impact crop yields (e.g. Porter and Gawith, 1999; Gu *et al.*, 2008).

Cold damage to plants may occur at a range of minimum temperatures (T_{min}) depending on species sensitivity and phenological stage (Sakai and Larcher, 1987; Larcher, 2005). Given the challenges in generalizing plant cold tolerance, the United States Department of Agriculture (USDA) developed cold hardiness zones (CHZ) based on annual minimum T_{min} (TN_n) averaged over a climatological period. These zones provide guidance for where plants might survive, and are presently used to establish nursery crop insurance standards. A map of cold hardiness zones was first published by the USDA in 1960, and was updated in 1990 (Cathey, 1990) and again in 2012 (Daly *et al.*, 2012). Although other measures of delineating horticulturally relevant climate zones exist, we focus on the USDA hardiness zones because of their ubiquity over the United States (McKenney *et al.*, 2007).

Under climate change scenarios, mean winter temperatures (e.g. Maloney *et al.*, 2014) and extreme minimum temperatures are projected to warm (e.g. Kharin *et al.*, 2013; Sillmann *et al.*, 2013; Wuebbles *et al.*, 2014). Given the importance of cold extremes to species survival and distribution, increased temperatures may allow for the geographic expansion of plants, pests and invasive species into areas where they had previously been thermally limited (e.g. Battisti *et al.*, 2005; Weiss and Overpeck, 2005; Walther *et al.*, 2009). Additionally, annual T_{min} cold extremes are of interest to a variety of civil sectors including electricity, transportation and infrastructure (e.g. Amato *et al.*, 2005; Larsen *et al.*, 2008).

Improved understanding of projected changes in temperature extremes – including TN_n – have implications for informing climate adaptation approaches for crop cultivation, identifying areas at risk for invasive species expansions, and tracking regions of potential changes in electricity and infrastructure needs. Increases in TN_n under climate change will result in significant redistribution of biologically relevant thermoclines and subsequent species (e.g. Diffenbaugh *et al.*, 2008). Observed warming in annual average T_{min} across the coterminous United States (CONUS) has resulted in poleward and altitudinal shifts in thermoclines, with spatially varying climate velocity – that is the speed and direction that a given property migrates with climate change (e.g. Dobrowski *et al.*, 2013). Previous studies have examined changes in the coldest minimum temperatures over the observational record (e.g. Alexander *et al.*, 2006; Brown *et al.*, 2008; Abatzoglou *et al.*, 2014), and those projected over the 21st century using climate models (Diffenbaugh *et al.*, 2008; Sillmann *et al.*, 2013; Abatzoglou and Barbero, 2014). Further, studies have shown larger warming of TN_n relative to maximum T_{min} in observations (Alexander *et al.*, 2006), and in modeling studies (e.g. Kharin *et al.*, 2013; Sillmann *et al.*, 2013). The warming of these cold extremes in mid- and high-latitude locations has been connected to the reduction in snow and sea ice (e.g. Kharin and Zwiers, 2005; Kharin *et al.*, 2013), as well to the diminished variance in cold-season temperatures resulting from Arctic amplification (e.g. Screen, 2014).

We build on these aforementioned studies by examining TN_n and CHZ projections using an ensemble of global climate model output downscaled to a spatial resolution congruent with contemporary agroclimatic information, evaluating projected changes in TN_n relative to mean winter (December – February) T_{min} ($TN_{\overline{DJF}}$), and calculating the climate velocity of CHZs, TN_n and $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$. Further, we complement previous work by examining the impact of projected changes in TN_n on thermally suitable areas for the cultivation of three high market-value perennial fruit and nut crops: Nonpareil almond, Hayward kiwi, and Navel orange.

Data and Methods

We obtained daily T_{min} data from twenty global climate models (GCMs) participating in the fifth phase of the Climate Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP5) (Taylor *et al.*, 2012) that were statistically downscaled over CONUS using Multivariate Adaptive Constructed Analogs (MACA) method (Abatzoglou and Brown, 2012) for both historical (1950-2005) and future (2006-2099) experiments. Downscaled data were trained using the gridded surface meteorological dataset of Abatzoglou (2013) at a 1/24th degree resolution grid that ensures that quantiles of the downscaled historical GCM period adhere to those of the observed record (1979-2012). The gridded dataset of Abatzoglou (2013) is a hybrid product that bias correct data from the North American Land Data Assimilation System (NLDAS2; Mitchell *et al.*, 2004) with monthly data from the Parameter Regression on Independent Slopes Model (PRISM; Daly *et al.* 1994), and exhibits nominal biases for temperature extremes such as TN_n when compared to *in situ* weather stations (i.e., coldest 1% of daily TN had a mean bias of +0.5°C compared to data from Global Historical Climate Network stations). MACA uses an analog approach for mapping GCM fields to observed fields and applies an equidistant quantile mapping bias correction procedure (Li *et al.*, 2010; Pierce *et al.*, 2015) that preserves the differences between future and historical daily temperatures from GCM simulations across quantiles, including TN_n and other extreme values.

Dynamical downscaling using regional climate models (RCM) is arguably better suited for assessing climate extremes modulated by mesoscale land-surface phenomena (e.g., snowalbedo feedback). However, the restricted availability of RCM output from multiple GCMs and the additional statistical bias correction procedures needed for local assessment limited our analysis to the statistically downscaled products. We conduct a complementary analysis to facilitate a comparison between statistically downscaled products used in our analysis and dynamically downscaled results from two RCMs (CanCM4 and RCM4) using a common GCM ensemble member from the second generation Canadian Earth System Model (CanESM2) forced with RCP 8.5 as part of the CORDEX project (Giorgi *et al.*, 2009).

We constrained our analysis to model simulations for the historical period (1971-2000) and mid 21st century period (2041-2070). We chose to assess mid-century projections in TN_n, TN_{DJF}, and CHZs because of the limited ability for developing meaningful management strategies relevant to end-of-century projections. We primarily focus on future experiments run under Representative Concentration Pathway 8.5 (RCP 8.5) given that inter-model variability exceeds inter-scenario variability for these time horizons (Kharin *et al.*, 2007; Kharin *et al.*, 2013), and emissions trajectories to date have more closely followed RCP 8.5 (Peters *et al.*, 2013).

 TN_n for each winter-centric year was calculated from November – March, along with $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$. We calculated 30-year averages of TN_n and $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ for each model for both the historic and mid 21st century time periods and considered both multi-model ensemble averages, as well as the ensemble 25th and 75th percentiles to assess intermodel variability. The climate velocities of multimodel mean TN_n and $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ between historical and mid 21st century were calculated using a distance-based velocity algorithm (Hamann *et al.*, 2015). This algorithm determines the shortest distance between locations with analog climates and divides by the number of years between the two climate periods to provide the climate velocity in units of km yr⁻¹. We calculated both forward (i.e. current-to-future) and backward (future-to-current) velocities of

the ensemble average temperature and report the minimum of the two velocities as a conservative estimate.

The multi-model mean of 30-year average TN_n values were also used to define CHZs. Hardiness zones range from -51.1° to 21.1°C with each zone spanning 5.6°C and being comprised of half-zones A and B, each covering a 2.8°C range. Projected changes in CHZs and the velocity of CHZ shifts were also calculated. While CHZ projections may be useful for assessing climate change impacts on crop cultivation, we utilize minimum temperature thresholds (TN_{CROP}) for dormancy as a means of examining how projected changes in TN_n may expand thermally suitable areas for crop survival. We chose to examine the impacts of projected changes in TN_n on Nonpareil almonds, Hayward kiwis, and Navel oranges because of their relatively high market value. These cultivars also provide examples across a range of hardiness threshold temperatures, from -25°C for Nonpareil almonds (Janick and Moore, 1996), to -12°C for Hayward kiwifruit (Strik, 2005), to -4.4°C for Navel oranges (Fake and Norton, 2012). Using the multi-model mean TN_n for both the historical and mid-century periods, we calculated the percent area over CONUS with TN_n values above TN_{CROP} . Additionally, to provide a more conservative measure of potential changes in crop cultivation area, we also assessed the percent suitable land area where at least 80% of the models showed $TN_n > TN_{CROP}$.

Results

Ensemble average projected increases in $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ range from 1.7°C in the southeastern US to more than 5°C in the Upper Midwest and northern Great Plains (Figure 2.1a). While the spatial pattern of warming for $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ resembled that seen in TN_n , the magnitude of warming of the latter was more acute across a majority of CONUS (Figure 2.1b). The ensemble average TN_n warming ranged from 1.8°C to more than 7°C warming, yielding a 40% greater increase compared to $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ when averaged over CONUS. This results in an additional 2°C of warming of TN_n over $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ across a broad region of the Midwestern US, Great Lakes and interior northwestern US (Figure 2.1c). This asymmetric warming was found for all downscaled GCMs across much of the northern half of the United States from the Great Plains to the Atlantic Ocean, as well as for much of the Intermountain West. Conversely, fewer GCMs showed differential warming across portions of the southern United States, the Rocky Mountains, and portions of the Southwest including California and Arizona (Supplemental Figure 2.S1). Intermodel variability, represented by 25th and 75th percentiles of projected increases in TN_n

and $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ across models (Supplemental Figure 2.S2), was largest over the northern US and the northern Rocky Mountains of Idaho and Montana, for $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ and TN_n , respectively.

The velocity of TN_n also varied spatially (Figure 2.2a). The mean (median) estimate of the speed of TN_n over CONUS was 21.4km decade⁻¹ (16.2km decade⁻¹), albeit with substantial spatial heteorogeneity as seen in prior assessments of climate velocity (e.g., Dobrowski et al., 2013; Loarie *et al.*, 2009). The fastest speed of TN_n was found over the northern Great Plains and Midwestern US due to large increases in TN_n coupled with a weak spatial gradient in TN_n , while slow speeds were found along the West Coast, in the Southwest, and in coastal Florida. By comparison, the velocity of projected $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ was less than TN_n , with a mean (median) of 15.6 km decade⁻¹ (12 km decade⁻¹) and with similar spatial patterns (Figure 2.2b). As an artifact of the spatial bounds of our data, forward-looking climate velocities have no analog climates within CONUS for parts of the Northern Plains and more localized areas in the Rocky Mountains and the Northeast (Supplemental Figure 2.S3). Backward-looking velocities show analog climates over 95% of locations and differ from forward-looking velocities, particularly over the topographically complex Western US.

As CHZs are calculated from average TN_n , those locations showing the largest warming of TN_n also exhibited the largest projected increases in CHZs (e.g. from zone 5 to 6). Cold hardiness zones of downscaled GCM data from historical runs (Figure 2.3a) were similar to published CHZs from observational records (e.g. Daly *et al.*, 2012). A comparison of ensemble mean TN_n downscaled from historical runs and TN_n calculated using daily PRISM data from 1981-2010 showed absolute biases < 1.5°C over CONUS, with a mean bias of +0.1°C, suggesting reasonable agreement. Mid-century CHZ projections showed northward and upward shifts in existing zones (Figure 2.3b), with a mean (median) shift over CONUS of ~93km (~56km) by the mid 21st century. Nearly all (98%) of CONUS exhibited an increase in CHZ (i.e. toward warmer absolute minimum temperature) using the multi-model mean, and no location saw a decrease in CHZ. Similar changes in CHZ were projected by the mid 21st century using RCP 4.5 forcing (Supplemental Figure 2.S4).

Warming TN_n (and consequent shifting CHZs) resulted in an increase in land area with sufficiently warm temperatures for overwinter survival of crops. Over the historical period, approximately 24% and 5% of CONUS had sufficiently warm TN_n for overwinter survival of oranges and kiwifruit, respectively (Figures 2.4a,c). Mid 21st century projections of TN_n would enable an expansion of land with suitable overwinter temperatures to approximately 37% and 9% of CONUS for kiwifruit and oranges, respectively; the extent of TN_{CROP} for oranges expanded

northward along coastal areas and kiwi expanded northward from its historical range (Figures 2.4b,d). The majority (~74%) of CONUS showed multi-model mean $TN_n > TN_{CROP}$ for almonds over the historical period (Figure 2.4e), expanding into the north central plains and covering ~93% of CONUS by the mid 21st century (Figure 2.4f). A more conservative approach, where at least 80% of the models have $TN_n > TN_{CROP}$, shows comparable results: the percent land area suitable for crop survival over the historical (future) period was ~73% (~90%) for almonds, ~23% (~32%) for kiwi, and ~5% (~8%) for oranges.

Similar patterns of warming are evident across the statistically and dynamically downscaled data, however changes in TN_n and $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ are more heterogeneous in the dynamically downscaled outputs (Supplemental Figure 2.S5). The spatial correlation of changes in TN_n ($TN_{\overline{DJF}}$) between the downscaled data and the RCMs were 0.80 (0.87) for RCM4, and 0.83 (0.88) for RCA4. The raw GCM output, statistically downscaled data, and both RCMs show amplified warming of the TN_n versus $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ over the majority of CONUS. Whereas the RCMs highlight heterogeneous warming in the topographically complex western United States, the inter-RCM variability is quite large.

Discussion and Conclusions

The mechanisms responsible for the amplified warming of TN_n are likely a function of Arctic amplification and land-atmosphere interactions. The Arctic and interior Canada are primary air mass source regions for cold air outbreaks over CONUS that typically result in TN_n . Observed amplification in warming rates over high latitude landmasses and the poles versus the mid-latitudes has contributed to an increase in the temperature of cold air masses that have impacted CONUS over the second half of the 20th century (Walsh *et al.*, 2001; Hankes and Walsh, 2011). Huybers *et al.*, (2014) showed a pattern of decreased variance of the coldest 5% of TN in DJF with warming $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ on an interannual basis in observations, which supports the amplified warming of TN_n . Continued amplified warming rates of source regions for cold air outbreaks likely contribute to the larger warming rate of TN_n versus $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$. While changes in atmospheric circulation with climate change have been hypothesized to increase the potential for cold air outbreaks (e.g. Francis and Vavrus, 2012), decreases in temperature variance as a result of climate change would reduce the potential for cold air outbreaks (e.g. Schneider *et al.*, 2015; Screen, 2014). Changes in snow cover and depth can also increase warming rates as the high albedo and thermal emissivity of snow cover helps promote exceptionally cold temperatures.

Consequently, projected declines in snowfall (Lute *et al.*, 2015) and snow depth (e.g. Salathé *et al.*, 2008) may locally alter the radiative balance and contribute to differential rates of warming (e.g. Dyer and Mote, 2006). However, Abatzoglou and Barbero (2014) and Gao *et al.* (2015) noted that extreme cold air outbreaks including all-time record low temperatures may occur under a warmer climate, though with reduced duration and spatial extent.

Climate velocity may shape the distribution of ecological zones and resident species (Loarie *et al.*, 2009). As TN_n has a direct link to species viability, we suggest that the climate velocity of such metrics is important for changes in range shifts in agricultural and natural ecosystems. While their methodology for calculating climate velocities differs from that used here, Dobrowski *et al.* (2013) showed similar patterns in the velocity of mean T_{min} over the 20th century, though our mean projected velocities of TN_n are greater than the average velocity of mean T_{min} in that study. The greater velocity of TN_n versus $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ suggests a hastened rate of change that may be important for planning and adaptation efforts, and in fact the velocity of the change itself.

It is important to note the uncertainty in the projection of extremes in GCM data and associated statistical downscaling that may not fully capture the mesoscale land-surface feedbacks that can modify warming of temperature extremes. Statistically and dynamically downscaled products for a common GCM ensemble member generally show similar patterns in TN_n and $TN_{\overline{DIE}}$, but localized magnitudes differ. The heterogeneity exhibited in the dynamically downscaled products (e.g. over the western US) likely highlight regions where snow-albedo feedbacks are captured by RCMs (e.g. Salathé et al., 2008; Pepin et al., 2015). In this respect, RCMs may help to unveil changes occurring at local scales that are not adequately resolved using statistical approaches. However, the influence of snow-albedo feedbacks is contingent upon accurately simulating snowcover changes. The differences in magnitude and spatial heterogeneity of the change in TN_n and TN_{DIF} between the RCMs examined here indicate the challenges in refining the magnitude of change at local scales. Likewise, the lack of ensemble GCM-RCM combinations and the potential for GCM biases to propagate into RCM simulations currently limit a comprehensive analysis suitable for research of this sort. However, coordinated experiments such as CORDEX (Giorgi et al., 2009) can better elucidate uncertainty that arises through downscaling approaches as well as highlight value-added downscaling from RCMs on changes in TN_n that may help refine our results.

The increase in TN_n and subsequent shifts in CHZs projected for mid-century periods supports previous work on changing thermal suitability envelopes. For example, the analysis of Lobell *et al.* (2006) on perennial crops over California showed favorability for future crop development at higher latitudes or elevations. Similarly, Olesen et al. (2007) project an expansion in thermal suitability zones for maize production over Europe during the 21st century. While our analysis does not consider other factors (e.g. heat tolerance thresholds, chilling hour requirements, water availability, competing land use) that govern where crops can be cultivated, warming of TN_n may provide opportunities for crop production in regions that are currently thermally limited by cold extremes. However, there are many caveats to the potential for crop expansion with respect to warming TN_n . For the perennials examined here that are either early blooming or highly sensitive to frost damage, commercial cultivation occurs almost exclusively in areas where TN_n is much warmer than TN_{CROP} and there are few studies providing thorough examination of threshold temperatures for cold hardiness (Janick and Moore, 1996). It should be noted that the TN_{CROP} values used in this study are temperatures that would severely damage or kill crops during overwinter dormancy; during other phenological stages, crops may be at higher risk for damage from less extreme cold temperatures. Further, while these threshold temperatures may be tolerated during dormancy for a few hours, many hours below TN_{CROP} would result in increased damage or mortality (Fake and Norton, 2012). Additionally, tolerance may decrease on nights with little wind when radiative heat loss can cool plant tissues below the ambient air temperature (Johnson, 2011).

Warming TN_n and projected shifts in CHZs have implications for agricultural and natural vegetation, land management, the energy sector and infrastructure. In addition to cultivated crops, native and invasive species and pests may also see geographic expansion, resulting in additional challenges for agricultural land managers as well as those managing forests, rangelands and other natural resources (e.g. Noss, 2001). Moreover, an increase in TN_n may also have economic impacts. Provided that the greatest electrical demands for heating occur during the coldest temperatures, the anticipated reductions in heating demand assessed from projected changes in $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ may be augmented further with greater rates of warming of TN_n (Scott and Huang, 2007; Mideksa and Kallbekken, 2010). In addition to lowered heating costs, further economic impacts of warming TN_n include the reduced cost of transportation infrastructure repairs as warmer T_{min} extremes reduce thermal stress on asphalt and damage from frost heaves (e.g. Mills and Andrey, 2002). The differential warming exhibited between changes in mean and extreme minimum winter temperatures highlights the importance of assessing both means and extremes in understanding potential impacts of climate change. Through utilizing daily projections to illustrate results with direct implications for climate change impacts, we show the benefit in revisiting previous studies whose analyses were limited temporally and spatially by previously unavailable downscaled daily data, and suggest that for applied purposes statistically downscaled products may be preferable to RCMs for multi-member ensemble studies. Finally, although the caveats presented above highlight the need for additional research to more fully account for the role of climatological factors governing crop survival, our results show promise for geographic expansion of thermally limited cultivars under climate change.

Acknowledgements

This research was funded through award #2011-68002-30191 from USDA National Institute of Food and Agriculture. We appreciate the constructive feedback from three anonymous reviewers that helped improve the quality of the manuscript.

References

- Abatzoglou J T 2013 Development of gridded surface meteorological data for ecological applications and modelling Int. J. Climatol. 33 121–31
- Abatzoglou J T and Barbero R 2014 Observed and projected changes in absolute temperature records across the contiguous United States Geophys. Res. Lett. 41 6501–8
- Abatzoglou J T and Brown T J 2012 A comparison of statistical downscaling methods suited for wildfire applications Int. J. Climatol. 32 772–80
- Abatzoglou J T, Rupp D E and Mote PW2014 Seasonal climate variability and change in the Pacific Northwest of the United States J. Clim. 27 2125–42
- Alden J and Hermann RK1971 Aspects of the cold-hardiness mechanism in plants Bot. Rev. 37 37–142
- Alexander L V, Zhang X, Peterson T C, Caesar J, Gleason B, Klein Tank A M G, and Vazquez-Aguirre J L 2006 Global observed changes in daily climate extremes of temperature and precipitation J. Geophys. Res.: Atmos. (1984–2012) 111 D05109
- Amato A D, Ruth M, Kirshen P and Horwitz J 2005 Regional energy demand responses to climate change: methodology and application to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts Clim. Change 71 175–201
- Bale J S 1996 Insect cold hardiness: a matter of life and death Eur. J. Entomology 93 369-82
- Battisti A, Stastny M, Netherer S, Robinet C, Schopf A, Roques A and Larsson S 2005 Expansion of geographic range in the pine processionary moth caused by increased winter temperatures Ecol. Appl. 15 2084–96
- Brown S J, Caesar J and Ferro C A 2008 Global changes in extreme daily temperature since 1950 J. Geophys. Res.: Atmos. (1984–2012) 113 D05115
- Cathey Henry M 1990 USDA Plant Hardiness Zone Map
- Daly C, Neilson R P and Phillips D L 1994 A statistical-topographic model for mapping climatological precipitation over mountainous terrain J. Appl. Meteorol. 33 140–58
- Daly C, Widrlechner M P, Halbleib M D, Smith J I and Gibson W P 2012 Development of a new USDA plant hardiness zone map for the United States J. Appl. Meteorol. Climatol. 51 242–64
- Diffenbaugh N S, Krupke C H, White M A and Alexander C E 2008 Global warming presents new challenges for maize pest management Environ. Res. Lett. 3 044007
- Dobrowski S Z, Abatzoglou J, Swanson A K, Greenberg J A, Mynsberge A R, Holden Z A and Schwartz M K 2013 The climate velocity of the contiguous United States during the 20th century Glob. Change Biol. 19 241–51

- Dyer J L and Mote T L 2006 Spatial variability and trends in observed snow depth over North America Geophys. Res. Lett. 33 L16503
- Fake C and Norton M 2012 Avoiding cold damage to home citrus Merced County Cooperative Extension (http://cemerced. ucanr.edu/files/134971.pdf)
- Francis J A and Vavrus S J 2012 Evidence linking Arctic amplification to extreme weather in mid-latitudes Geophys. Res. Lett. 39 L06801
- Gao Y, Leung L R, Lu J and Masato G 2015 Persistent cold air outbreaks over North America in a warming climate Environ. Res. Lett. 10 044001
- Giorgi F, Jones C and Asrar G R 2009 Addressing climate information needs at the regional level: the CORDEX framework World Meteorol. Organ. (WMO) Bull. 58 175
- Gu L, Hanson P J, Mac Post W, Kaiser D P, Yang B, Nemani R, Pallardy S G and Meyers T 2008 The 2007 Eastern US spring freeze: increased cold damage in a warming world? BioScience 58 253–62
- Hamann A, Roberts D R, Barber Q E, Carroll C and Nielsen S E 2015 Velocity of climate change algorithms for guiding conservation and management Glob. Change Biol. 21 997–1004
- Hankes I E and Walsh J E 2011 Characteristics of extreme cold air masses over the North American sub-Arctic J. Geophys. Res.: Atmos. (1984–2012) 116 D11102
- Huybers P, McKinnon K A, Rhines A and Tingley M 2014 US daily temperatures: the meaning of extremes in the context of nonnormality J. Clim. 27 7368–84
- Janick J and Moore J N 1996 Fruit Breeding, Nuts vol 3 (New York: Wiley)
- Johnson W 2011 Understanding how cold temperatures affect citrus trees TexasA&M AgriLife Extension Aggie Horticulture Hort Update (http://aggie-horticulture.tamu.edu/ newsletters/hortupdate/2011/mar/citrus_freeze.html)
- Kharin V V and Zwiers F W 2005 Estimating extremes in transient climate change simulations J. Clim. 18 1156–73
- Kharin V V, Zwiers F W, Zhang X and Hegerl G C 2007 Changes in temperature and precipitation extremes in the IPCC ensemble of global coupled model simulations J. Clim. 20 1419–44
- Kharin V V, Zwiers F W, Zhang X and Wehner M 2013 Changes in temperature and precipitation extremes in the CMIP5 ensemble Clim. Change 119 345–57
- Larcher W 2005 Climatic constraints drive the evolution of low temperature resistance in woody plants J. Agric. Meteorol. 61 189–202
- Larsen P H, Goldsmith S, Smith O, Wilson M L, Strzepek K, Chinowsky P and Saylor B 2008 Estimating future costs for Alaska public infrastructure at risk from climate change Glob. Environ. Change 18 442–57

- Ledig F T, Rehfeldt G E, Sáenz-Romero C and Flores-López C 2010 Projections of suitable habitat for rare species under global warming scenarios Am. J. Bot. 97 970–87
- Li H, Sheffield J and Wood E F 2010 Bias correction of monthly precipitation and temperature fields from intergovernmental panel on climate change AR4 models using equidistant quantile matching J. Geophys. Res.: Atmos. 115 D10101
- Loarie S R, Duffy P B, Hamilton H, Asner G P, Field C B and Ackerly D D 2009 The velocity of climate change Nature 462 1052–5
- Lobell D B and Field C B 2007 Global scale climate-crop yield relationships and the impacts of recent warming Environ. Res. Lett. 2 014002
- Lobell D B, Field C B, Cahill K N and Bonfils C 2006 Impacts of future climate change on California perennial crop yields: model projections with climate and crop uncertainties Agric. Forest Meteorol. 141 208–18
- Lute A C, Abatzoglou J T and Hegewisch K C 2015 Projected changes in snowfall extremes and interannual variability of snowfall in the western United States Water Resour. Res. 51 960–72
- Maloney E D, Camargo S J, Chang E, Colle B, Fu R, Geil K L and Kinter J 2014 North American climate in cmip5 experiments: III. Assessment of twenty-first-century projections J. Clim. 27 2230–70
- McKenney D W, Pedlar J H, Lawrence K, Campbell K and Hutchinson M F 2007 Beyond traditional hardiness zones: using climate envelopes to map plant range limits BioScience 57 929–37
- Mideksa T K and Kallbekken S 2010 The impact of climate change on the electricity market: a review Energy Policy 38 3579–85
- Mills B and Andrey J 2002 Climate change and transportation: potential interactions and impacts The Potential Impacts of Climate Change on Transportation [US] DOT Center for Climate Change and Environmental Forecasting (http://climate.volpe.dot.gov/workshop1002/mills.doc) pp 77–88
- Mitchell K E, Lohmann D, Houser P R, Wood E F, Schaake J C, Robock A and Bailey A A 2004 The multi-institution North American Land Data Assimilation System (NLDAS): utilizing multiple GCIP products and partners in a continental distributed hydrological modeling system J. Geophys. Res. 109 D07S90
- Noss R F 2001 Beyond Kyoto: forest management in a time of rapid climate change Conservation Biol. 15 578–90
- Olesen J E, Carter T R, Diaz-Ambrona C H, Fronzek S, Heidmann T, Hickler T and Sykes M T 2007 Uncertainties in projected impacts of climate change on European agriculture and terrestrial ecosystems based on scenarios from regional climate models Clim. Change 81 123–43

- Paradis A, Elkinton J, Hayhoe K and Buonaccorsi J 2008 Role of winter temperature and climate change on the survival and future range expansion of the hemlock woolly adelgid (Adelges tsugae) in eastern North America Mitigation Adaptation Strateg. Glob. Change 13 541–54
- Pepin N, Bradley R S, Diaz H F, Baraer M, Caceres E B, Forsythe N, and Yang D Q 2015 Elevationdependent warming in mountain regions of the world Nat. Clim. Change 5 424–30
- Peters G P, Andrew R M, Boden T, Canadell J G, Ciais P, Le Quéré C and Wilson C 2013 The challenge to keep global warming below 2 °C Nat. Clim. Change 3 4–6
- Pierce D W, Cayan D R, Maurer E P, Abatzoglou J T and Hegewisch K C 2015 Improved bias correction techniques for simulations of climate change J. Hydrometeorology 16 2421–42
- Porter J R and Gawith M 1999 Temperatures and the growth and development of wheat: a review Eur. J. Agronomy 10 23–36
- Sakai A and Larcher W 1987 Frost Survival of Plants: Responses and Adaptation to Freezing Stress (Berlin: Springer)
- Salathé E P Jr, Steed R, Mass C F and Zahn P H 2008 A high resolution climate model for the US Pacific Northwest: mesoscale feedbacks and local responses to climate change J. Clim. 21 5708–26
- Schneider T, Bischoff T and Płotka H 2015 Physics of changes in synoptic midlatitude temperature variability J. Clim. 28 2312–31
- Scott M J and Huang Y J 2007 Effects of climate change on energy use in the United States Effects of Climate Change on Energy Production and Use in the United States. A Report by the U.S. Climate Change Science Program and the subcommittee on Global change Research, Washington, DC pp 8–44
- Screen J A 2014 Arctic amplification decreases temperature variance in northern mid-to highlatitudes Nat. Clim. Change 4 577–82
- Sillmann J, Kharin V V, Zwiers F W, Zhang X and Bronaugh D 2013 Climate extremes indices in the CMIP5 multimodel ensemble: II. Future climate projections J. Geophys. Res.: Atmos. 118 2473–93
- Stahl K, Moore R D and McKendry I G 2006 Climatology of winter cold spells in relation to mountain pine beetle mortality in British Columbia, Canada Clim. Res. 32 13–23
- Strik B 2005 Growing kiwifruit Oregon State University Extension Catalog (http://catalog.extension.oregonstate.edu/pnw507)
- Taylor K E, Stouffer R J and Meehl G A 2012 An overview of CMIP5 and the experiment design Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 93 485–98
- Trần J K, Ylioja T, Billings R F, Régnière J and Ayres M P 2007 Impact of minimum winter temperatures on the population dynamics of Dendroctonus frontalis Ecological Appl. 17 882– 99

- Vetaas O R 2002 Realized and potential climate niches: a comparison of four Rhododendron tree species J. Biogeography 29 545–54
- Walsh J E, Phillips A S, Portis D H and Chapman W L 2001 Extreme cold outbreaks in the United States and Europe, 1948–99 J. Clim. 14 2642–58
- Walther G R, Roques A, Hulme P E, Sykes M T, Pyšek P, Kühn I, and Czucz B 2009 Alien species in a warmer world: risks and opportunities Trends Ecology Evol. 24 686–93
- Weiss J L and Overpeck J T 2005 Is the Sonoran Desert losing its cool? Glob. Change Biol. 11 2065–77
- Woodward F I, Lomas M R and Kelly C K 2004 Global climate and the distribution of plant biomes. Phil. Trans. R. Soc. B 359 1465–76
- Wuebbles D, Meehl G, Hayhoe K, Karl T R, Kunkel K, Santer B and Sun L 2014 CMIP5 climate model analyses: climate extremes in the United States Bull. Am. Meteorol. Soc. 95 571–83

Figures



Figure 2.1 Projected ensemble averages of (a) mid-century warming in $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$ over CONUS (b) mid-century warming in average TN_n and (c) the difference in warming of TN_n and warming of $TN_{\overline{DJF}}$



Figure 2.2 Estimated climate velocity of (a) TNn and (b) TN_{DJF} defined as the minimum of the forward and backward looking calculations



Figure 2.3 (a) Cold hardiness zones as defined by the multi-model mean of TN_n averaged over the period 1971-2000. (b) Cold hardiness zones as defined by the multi-model mean of TN_n over the period 2041-2070, showing shifts in hardiness zones over the majority of CONUS



Figure 2.4 Shaded areas are those where the ensemble average $TN_n > TN_{CROP}$ for: (a) oranges over the period 1971-2000 (b) oranges over the period 2041-2070 (c) kiwifruit over the period 1971-2000 (d) kiwifruit over the period 2041-2070 (e) almonds over the period 1971-2000 (f) almonds over the period 2041-2070










(d) TN_{DJF} backward looking. Grey areas within CONUS indicate regions where no climate analog was found within the dataset (i.e. the climate analog exists outside of CONUS) Supplemental Figure 2.S3 Climate velocities for (a) TNn forward looking, (b) TNn backward looking, (c) TNnF forward looking,







Supplemental Figure 2.S5 *Top row:* change in TNn for (a) CanESM2 GCM (b) MACA (c) RCM4 (d) RCA *Bottom row:* change in TN_{DFI} for (e) CanESM2 GCM (f) MACA (g) RCM4 (h) RCA

CHAPTER 3: COMPARING MECHANISTIC AND EMPIRICAL APPROACHES TO MODELING CROP NICHE

Forthcoming in International Journal of Biometeorology

Parker LE, Abatzoglou JT (2017) Comparing mechanistic and empirical approaches to modeling the thermal niche of almond. *International Journal of Biometeorology.*

Abstract

Delineating locations that are thermally viable for cultivating high-value crops can help to guide land use planning, agronomics, and water management. Three modeling approaches were used to identify the potential distribution and key thermal constraints on almond cultivation across the southwestern United States (US), including two empirical species distribution models (SDMs) – one using commonly-used bioclimatic variables (Traditional SDM) and the other using more physiologically relevant climate variables (Nontraditional SDM) – and a mechanistic model (MM) developed using published thermal limitations from field studies. While models showed comparable results over the majority of the domain, including over existing croplands with high almond density, the MM suggested the greatest potential for the geographic expansion of almond cultivation, with frost susceptibility and insufficient heat accumulation being the primary thermal constraints in the southwestern US. The Traditional SDM overpredicted almond suitability in locations shown by the MM to be limited by frost, whereas the Nontraditional SDM showed greater agreement with the MM in these locations, indicating that incorporating physiologically relevant variables in SDMs can improve predictions. Finally, opportunities for geographic expansion of almond cultivation under current climatic conditions in the region may be limited, suggesting that increasing production may rely on agronomical advances and densifying current almond plantations in existing locations.

Introduction

Climate plays an important role in shaping the geographic distribution and survival rates of organisms, both on natural and cultivated lands (Guisan and Zimmermann 2000; Leemans and Solomon 1993). While adverse climate impacts can be mitigated to some extent in horticultural settings (e.g. irrigation), climate is an important factor in determining the geographic distribution of crops. This is particularly notable for perennial crops, which, unlike annuals, are subject to climate conditions year-round and whose decades-long life spans limit adaptation efforts such as fallowing (Lobell and Field 2011). Understanding the viability of cropping choices – from both an agricultural and economic perspective – across a geographic region is important for addressing food security challenges under both present day conditions, as well as in the coming decades under climate change and increased global caloric demands (Lobell et al. 2008).

Modeling potential geographic ranges of croplands using biophysical environmental predictors can elucidate crop viability through space and time. However, agricultural research has typically used mechanistic models (MMs) that focus on modeling crop yield in a predefined geographic area rather than the potential geographic distribution of a crop. These models attempt to capture relationships between environmental cause and phenological effect, realized from agronomic studies (Dourado-Neto et al. 1998). Widely used agricultural MMs vary in their specifics, though each use input data on weather, soils, and crop phenology to simulation crop production (Stöckle et al. 2003). However, the ability to use MMs may be limited by the availability of environmental input data, the capability to accurately parameterize the model, stationarity assumptions when extrapolating MMs in time and space, and computational expense (Challinor et al. 2009).

Though MMs have been used to identify species range (Buckley et al. 2010), species distribution models (SDMs) are a more common method for estimating the geographic niche of an organism. SDMs are an empirical approach that have been used to determine the potential range of native species (Vetaas 2002), assess the possible advancement of invasive species (Jiménez-Valverde et al. 2011), and estimate the impact of climate change on species distributions (Pearson and Dawson 2003). SDMs utilize a sample of observed locations of a given species and co-located environmental data to model the species' potential geographic range. Despite their utility, there are a number of limitations and criticisms of SDMs. For example, SDMs overlook biotic interactions and species adaptation (McKenney et al. 2007; Guisan and Zimmermann 2000), and assume species-environment equilibrium, implying that

species absence is purely a function of uninhabitability (Araújo and Pearson 2005). Additionally, SDMs typically use climatological means and bioclimatic variables that may not be mechanistically related to biological viability, and fail to account for the impact of extremes on species prevalence (Woodward et al. 2004).

Whereas both modeling approaches have their merits and shortcomings, SDMs may be more suited to native species whose growing conditions are not managed. Still, some studies have utilized SDMs to address the impact of climate and climate change on managed crops, including some perennial species (Pocle et al. 2014). Further, while SDMs differ in their approach from MMs (i.e. correlative vs. process basis), previous work has shown that modeling frameworks can produce similar results in projecting both distribution and productivity in agricultural settings (Estes et al. 2013).

This study compares the results of an MM and two SDMs for modeling the viability of cultivating *Prunus dulcis* (almond) across the southwestern United States by exclusively considering thermal factors. Following Hijmans and Graham (2006), we consider the MM to be a more accurate representation of the potential distribution to which we compare two SDMs. One SDM is developed using a common approach for selecting thermal variables (Porfirio et al. 2014). The other SDM selects thermal variables that more directly relate to the physiological requirements for a species (Dilts et al. 2015; Zimmermann et al. 2009). Although other environmental factors such as precipitation and soils are commonly included in such models, we focus solely on temperature variables as virtually all commercially grown almonds in the US are irrigated (Lobell and Field 2011), and cultivated systems may have the capacity to augment soils and biotic conditions that would otherwise be limiting (Yao et al. 2005). Although others have undertaken similar studies examining annual crops (Estes et al. 2013), this study is novel in that it considers a perennial cultivar subject to interannual climate variability.

Almonds are an important agricultural commodity and have a significant impact on regional water resources. California's Mediterranean climate is ideal for almond cultivation and enables the state to produce essentially all of the commercially grown US almond supply and more than 80% of the global supply, adding \$11 billion US dollars in revenue to the California economy (Almond Board of California 2015). Likely as a result of the reported health benefits of almond consumption (Tan and Mattes 2013), global almond demand has increased; coupled with high profitability for growers, increased almond demand has led to a doubling of almond acreage in California since 1995 (US Department of Agriculture 2016). Despite the relatively high water demands of almonds, newer (since 2010) orchards have principally replaced annuals with higher water demand, potentially reducing agricultural water demand (Howitt et al. 2015); however, the inability to fallow perennials and the increasing water demand of orchards as they age may offset these initial reductions.

The objective of this study is to address the ability of MMs and SDMs to model the potential geographic distribution of thermally suitable land for almond cultivation under present-day climatic conditions across the southwestern US. To this end, we endeavor to (1) identify key thermal controls on almond range across the region, (2) determine how well SDMs capture the thermal niche of almond as compared to the MM, (3) assess the value of incorporating physiologically relevant variables in SDMs, and (4) assess the potential for an expansion of thermally suitable land for almond cultivation across the southwestern United States. Given the current increase in almond plantations and climatic water stress precipitated by drought in California (Williams et al. 2015), the geography of suitable almond habitat has implications for land use, agricultural water demands, and economics.

Data and Methods

a. Data

i. Climatological Data

Daily maximum and minimum temperature (T_{max}, T_{min}) for the period 1979 – 2014 for the southwestern US [32° – 42° N, 114° – 125° W (Figure 3.1)] were acquired from the gridded surface meteorological dataset (METDATA) of Abatzoglou (2013). METDATA was created using two datasets: hourly data at ~12km resolution from the North American Land Data Assimilation System Phase 2 (NLDAS-2, Mitchell et al. 2004), and monthly data at ~4km resolution from the Parameter-elevation Regressions on Independent Slopes Model (PRISM, Daly et al. 2008). The resulting 4km resolution gridded daily dataset provides meteorological data at spatial and temporal scales suitable for both local and landscape scale ecological and agricultural modeling.

ii. Species Presence Data

Almond location data were obtained from the 2015 United States Department of Agriculture National Agriculture Statistics Service (USDA-NASS) Cropland Data Layer (CDL). While CDL almond location data is available dating back to 2007, 2015 provides the greatest extent of almond acreage due to the recent increase in cultivated almond cropland (Lobell and Field 2011). The CDL maps the location of more than 100 crop categories across the US at 30m resolution based on spectral signatures from satellite imagery that have been classified using a manual training process (Boryan et al. 2011). Despite inherent limitations of satellite-derived proxies, the CDL provides the most current and the highest spatial resolution publicly available data for crop occurrence. Only almond locations in California were used as occurrence data given that CDL data show that 99.97% of cultivated almond cropland in 2015 was in California. Nearly 5500km² were classified as almond in the 2015 California CDL. An almond crop density map was generated by calculating the proportion of land classified as almond by the CDL at the 4km resolution of the climate data.

b. Almond Phenology

Almond phenology is a complex, multi-year cycle wherein the bud development of the subsequent year's crop coincides with the development of the current year's crop, vegetative bud development, the differentiation to reproductive buds, the development of almond flowers, and the maturation of almond nuts (Covert 2011). We simplified almond phenology and focused on four stages of reproductive development based on the availability and consistency of information from agronomic literature: endodormancy, ecodormancy, flower development, and hull split.

Endodormancy is a period during which almonds trees are dormant and flower buds are prevented from emerging to prevent cold damage. Chill begins to accumulate during endodormancy (Covert 2011), and the completion of chill accumulation signals the beginning of ecodormancy, a period during which internal physiology no longer limits growth. Growth remains limited by environmental conditions during ecodormancy. The accumulation of heat (e.g., growing degree days, GDD) during ecodormancy allows for floral buds begin to emerge. Ecodormancy ends when approximately 50% of the flowers have bloomed, and flower development continues until sufficient cumulative GDD allows the crop to reach 100% bloom. Fruit development continues during the months after bloom as GDD continue to accumulate (Covert 2011). Hull split occurs when the hull separates from the shell and is the final stage of fruit development. Although harvest does not occur until 100% of the tree's hulls have split, continued GDD accumulation is needed to advance the tree from the start of hull split to harvest, and growers may alter water and pest management practices beginning at 1% hull split (UCIPM 2016).

c. Mechanistic Model

i. Thresholds for Almond Development

The mechanistic model (MM) was conceptualized as a biophysical approach to delineating the thermal niche for perennial crops. The MM considers the thermal requirements for almond reproductive development compiled from published literature, which are based on field observations and growth chamber experiments (Table 3.1). We applied conservative thresholds for crop suitability when a range of values was identified in the literature, and used values for the Nonpareil cultivar when a range of values was provided for different cultivars as it is the most widespread almond varietal grown in California. For example, while published data offer a wide range of temperatures that could result in varying levels of frost damage during flower development, we used frost temperature thresholds that result in $\sim 20\%$ damage (Snyder and Melo-Abreu 2005). GDD values for 1% bloom were not established in the literature and were calculated using phenology data from the Regional Almond Variety Trials (RAVT, University of California 1996-2006); cumulative GDD at 1% bloom was found to be 80% of that at 50% bloom. Similarly, GDD for hull split and harvest were calculated using phenology data from Connell et al. (2010). When accounting for GDD in crop phenology, we used low GDD thresholds during flowering stages to best assess frost risk in early bloom, whereas we used the average of the published GDD ranges during later stages of development (i.e. nut and harvest stages). The MM focuses solely on the thermal requirements for almond development and assumes that water needs can be met throughout development. This assumption also eliminates a need to account for heat stress, which is physiologically a function of water stress due to increased evaporative demand coupled with limited water supply rather than a direct response to ambient air temperature (David Doll, personal communication).

The MM accounts both for the conditions necessary for growth, as well as the conditions that would halt the growth cycle or result in crop damage, including cold hardiness, chilling requirements, heat accumulation requirements, and frost damage during ecodormancy, flowering, and nut development (Connell et al. 2010; Janick and Moore 1996; Rattigan and Hill 1986). The MM examines a total of 13 thermal requirements throughout crop development each year. A year is considered to be unviable for almond cultivation if any of the 13 thermal requirements are not met. Details of these thermal requirements are highlighted as follows:

1. Cold Hardiness

Cold hardiness temperature thresholds, defined by the annual coldest daily minimum temperature (TN_n), provide constraints on the potential geographic range of both natural and cultivated species, and have a direct link to the thermal viability of species (Parker and Abatzoglou 2016). We employed an absolute cold hardiness threshold temperature of -25°C (Janick and Moore 1996) to define suitable locations for over winter survival, and assessed over winter survival on an annual basis.

2. Chill Accumulation

We utilized the Dynamic Model (Fishman et al. 1987) for calculating chill portions (CP) as it has been shown to be a more accurate approach for calculating chill accumulation (Luedeling and Brown 2011). CP were calculated from the equations provided in Luedeling et al. (2009b) after temporally disaggregated daily data to hourly data using a modified sine curve model (Linvill 1990). We calculate cumulative CP between November 1 and March 31, covering the common period for chill accumulation for almonds (Covert 2011).

3. Growing Degree Days

Heat accumulation is a key driver of crop development and is commonly used to estimate crop phenology (e.g. timing of maturation). Heat accumulation is commonly measured as GDD above a crop-specific base temperature threshold (T_{base}). Following McMaster and Wilhelm (1997), we define GDD as:

$$GDD = \begin{cases} \frac{T_{max} + T_{min}}{2} - T_{base}, & \frac{T_{max} + T_{min}}{2} > T_{base} \\ \\ 0, & \frac{T_{max} + T_{min}}{2} \le T_{base} \end{cases}$$

where $T_{base} = 4.5$ °C (Rattigan and Hill, 1986).

Although previous work has suggested that growing degree hours (GDH) may provide a more accurate measure of heat accumulation than GDD, differences in accuracy vary between species and location, and the temporal disaggregation of daily data to hourly data to estimate GDH can contribute to uncertainty (Roltsch et al. 1999). We hereafter used GDD as a proxy for heat accumulation as GDD have successfully predicted development rates in several *prunus* species, including almond (Zavalloni et al. 2006), and are a more common means of computing heat accumulation when daily summarized weather data are available. Bloom timing from our model using GDD compared favorably with field study data from the RAVT, with modeled

bloom occurring within ±6 days of observed bloom timing on average, with the modeled bloom timing typically occurring earlier than observed consistent with the conservative nature of selected GDD phenology thresholds. Similarly, nut development rates compared favorably with field study data from Connell et al. (2010), which showed a Nonpareil nut maturation date 23 - 25 days after the onset of hull split; our model showed a mean nut maturation date of 24 days after the onset of hull split in locations with >1% almond density. The MM uses GDD to both assess crop maturation as well as track crop phenology in order to assess other thermal requirements, namely frost damage. Specifically, the MM uses GDD accumulation beginning November 1 in order to determine whether sufficient heat accumulates – irrespective of sufficient chill accumulation – for reaching phenology stages of 1%, 50%, and 100% bloom, 1% and 100% hull split, and harvest. Separately, the MM uses GDD accumulation beginning at the onset of ecodormancy in order to track the timing of almond maturity, which is used to determine frost susceptibility.

4. Frost Damage

Crops are susceptible to frost damage throughout their reproductive cycle, with damage-causing temperature thresholds (T_{frost}) rising throughout the progression of crop development. The MM assesses frost damage for ecodormancy through harvest and defines frost-induced development failure when a development stage has at least one day where $T_{min} < T_{frost}$. Frost damage was calculated for each phenological stage from 1% bloom to 100% hull split. GDD was used to determine the timing of transition between each stage, and each frost damage assessment was for the period ending with the given stage. For example, frost damage for 1% bloom occurs only if $T_{min} < T_{frost}$ for any day between the end of endodormancy and the date on which the 1% bloom GDD threshold is met. Frost damage for individual phenostages was only calculated for regions and years where sufficient CP and GDD were met. In subsequent results, we report the fraction of years during which frost damage occurred of the years in which it was calculated.

ii. Modeling Almond Development

The MM (Appendix A) used the thresholds outlined in Table 3.1 to model the thermal requirements for almond development for each year (November 1 – October 31) over the 35-year period (November 1979 – October 2014). The MM provides for the opportunity for failed development at each growth stage and year, which is treated as a binary variable. However, the true impact to crop yield – or viability – varies across development stage. For example, failure

to meet the frost damage threshold values used in the MM results in 20% crop damage, while failure to meet the CP and GDD accumulation threshold values may result in reduced crop quality and yield (Luedeling et al. 2009a), and deficiency in meeting cold hardiness requirements results in tree mortality (Janick and Moore 1996). The MM treats failure during any development stage as an unviable year for almond cultivation without explicitly modeling crop yield. By considering each year independently, this approach may better account for the influences of interannual climate variability on almond cultivation and can be used to assess the percent of years with suitable conditions. Additionally, the MM highlights the specific thermal attributes that limit consistent crop development across geographic regions.

d. Species Distribution Model (SDM)

While multiple empirical methods for SDM exist, we used a maximum entropy method (MaxEnt, version 3.3.3; Phillips et al. 2006). Although Phillips et al. (2006) highlight some of the limitations of presence-only species distribution modeling and the MaxEnt method specifically, work by Aguirre-Gutiérrez (2013) showed that MaxEnt performs well relative to other empirical species distribution modeling methods.

The statistical mechanics of the MaxEnt solution are detailed in Elith et al. (2011). Briefly, MaxEnt utilizes geolocated species presence data in concert with environmental data (e.g. climate, soils) to quantify the species' environmental niche as defined by the probability of species occurrence. MaxEnt randomly selects locations from a pre-defined geographic domain where species presence is unknown. Referred to as background points, the spatial scope of these locations can influence MaxEnt output and performance (Elith et al. 2011). It has been recommended that background points be chosen only from locations accessible to the species of interest (Merow et al. 2013). Consequently, we limited the geographic domain of the training data to 4-km grid cells where >10% of the cell is classed as cropland by the 30-m resolution USGS Land Cover Institute's MODIS-based Global Land Cover Climatology (henceforth, cropland) (Broxton et al. 2014) (Figure 3.2a). Experiments confirmed that these restrictions on background point locations improved model function.

Previous SDM studies have utilized combinations of bioclimate variables – typically climate normals – as environmental data in modeling species habitat (McKenney et al. 2007). We considered two sets of climate variables (Table 3.2). One set, hereafter referred to as Traditional, was based on variables common in SDM literature and the BioClim dataset (Hijmans et al. 2005), calculated using the 1979-2014 climatologies from METDATA. The second set of climate variables, hereafter referred to as Nontraditional, was based on 1979-2014 averages of the variables used in the MM. We define frost probability (FP) as the percent of years that experienced with T_{min} < T_{frost} between the end of ecodormancy and 1% hull split, during which time frost damage concern among growers is highest. Finally, to avoid over-fitting the model and ostensibly utilize the more suitable locations for almond cultivation in our presence data, presence locations were restricted to 4km cells with >1% almond density (Figure 2b). While the model was trained over the cropland background, the model was projected over the full domain.

Following Phillips and Dudík (2008), we utilized MaxEnt's default settings, detailed in Merow et al. (2013), with the exception of the model features wherein we restricted MaxEnt to linear and quadratic features to produce models that are more easily interpreted and provide a better reflection of general species-environment relationships (Syfert et al. 2013). Using a random subsample of 20%, we completed 100 replicated runs for both the Traditional and Nontraditional models. We used the area under curve (AUC) from the receiver operating curve (ROC) as a measure of model performance. The maximum AUC is defined as:

$$AUC = 1 - \frac{\alpha}{2}$$

where ∞ is the fraction of pixels covered by or containing the species (Aguirre-Gutiérrez 2013; Phillips et al. 2006). Unlike many ecological applications where ∞ is unknown, here the fraction of background pixels (cropland>10%) with almond density >1% is 0.35, making the maximum AUC for our models 0.83.

The MaxEnt training process tracks the contribution of environmental variables to model fit and provides a measure of variable importance as the percent contribution of each variable. MaxEnt's logistic output provides an estimate of the probability of occurrence of a species at a location, which we use as a measure of the thermal suitability of that location. Finally, to facilitate a more direct comparison with the results of the MM, we normalized MaxEnt output by dividing the logistic output by the median value over almond occurrence locations with >1% density and capping values at 1. We refer to this value as the species viability index (SVI), and compare this with the ratio of suitable years to total years for almond cultivation as simulated by the MM.

e. Caveats

Although we consider the MM to be a more accurate representation of the potential distribution (Hijmans and Graham 2006), neither the MM nor the SDMs provide definitive

predictions of where almonds can be successfully cultivated. First, the models do not differentiate between those locations where the physical and legal infrastructure for irrigation exists and where it does not. Secondly, the models do not differentiate between regions with and without competing land use, or suitable soils or topography. Thirdly, errors in parameterization in the MM could lead to poor accuracy in prediction (Buckley et al. 2010). For example, our conservative estimates of temperature and GDD thresholds may under-predict suitability in some locations, and published frost damage thresholds are primarily meant to serve as guidelines rather than definitive measures of critical temperature (Snyder and Melo-Abreu 2005). Finally, biotic interactions between the species, pests, pollinators, and climate are not explicitly considered, but are likely important for almond cultivation (Polce et al. 2014).

Results

a. Mechanistic Model

The MM showed the highest SVI values over California's Central Valley, Central Coast, and the deserts of southeastern California, southern Nevada, and western Arizona (Figure 3.3a). Approximately one third of the domain had high suitability (SVI > 0.8) whereas ~57% of the domain had low suitability (SVI <0.5). The MM showed strong agreement for subdomain locations with >1% almond density as 99.6% of these locations had high suitability for almond cultivation, indicating that the model performs well compared to independent records of species presence.

The fraction of years with suitable thermal conditions for each development stage of the MM is shown in Figure 4. This figure elucidates the limiting thermal variables for almond cultivation across space and over the almond phenological cycle. While the majority (>96%) of the domain had sufficiently warm TN_n (suitability in >80% of years), portions of southern California failed to consistently meet CP requirements, a key limiting factor to almond cultivation. Frost damage and GDD accumulation were the primary limiting factors to suitability over higher elevation regions of California and Nevada. Although model results show diminished frost risk during later development stages, nearly one third of the domain experienced development failure due to frost between the onset of heat accumulation and 1% bloom in a majority of years. Further, ~40% of the domain lacks sufficient GDD accumulation to reach maturation and would not be viable in a majority of years even if frost were not a risk.

b. Species Distribution Models

The Traditional (Nontraditional) SDM had an average AUC value of 0.744 (0.741). AUC results for both models were stable across the 100 replicated runs, with standard deviations <0.01. The AUC value of 0.74 would equal a normalized AUC of 0.89 given that the maximum AUC for our models was 0.83, and thus indicates that the models performed well over the training data. The Traditional and Nontraditional SDMs showed 25% and 18% of the domain to have high suitability (SVI>0.8) for almond cultivation, respectively (Figure 3.3b,c). The Traditional SDM showed highest SVI values over the northern and southern portions of the Central Valley, the Mojave Desert, southern Nevada and northwestern California. By comparison, the extent of high suitability in the Nontraditional SDM was reduced in the Sacramento-San Joaquin Delta to the south of the City of Sacramento, in the Mojave Desert, and in southern Nevada, and the model showed little or no suitability in northwestern California.

MaxEnt results showed that TN_{month} and TX_{month} provided the highest percent contribution to model gain for the Traditional model, while FP and TN_{DJF} contributed the most to model gain for the Nontraditional model (Table 3.3). Figure 5 shows response curves for these variables, illustrating their respective impact on almond suitability independent of other model variables. Response curves for the Traditional model showed an optimum in TN_{month} near 2°C, with Gaussian shaped decline for values to -4°C and +7°C. Similarly, the variable response curve for TX_{month} was Gaussian shaped, with an optimum near 37°C. Nontraditional SVI exhibited a unimodal response to TN_{DJF} with an optimum near ~2.5°C, while the response curve for FP showed an optimum at 0 with declines at higher values of FP.

c. Model Comparison

We compared the three modeling approaches by mapping the difference in SVI across the domain (Figure 3.6). Average model differences were minimal (<0.1) for areas with current almond density >1%. Both SDMs generally under-predicted SVI relative to the MM in regions to the west of the Central Valley, with the largest differences near the San Francisco Bay area, the Salinas Valley, the Central Coast, and in the Transverse Ranges north of the Los Angeles Basin. Conversely, the Traditional SDM predicts higher SVI than the MM for the Sierra foothills, the Klamath Mountains of northwestern California, and the periphery of the Mojave Desert. The Traditional SDM had higher suitability (SVI_{TRADITIONAL} – SVI_{MM} > 0.1) for ~15% of the domain. However, of the locations where the Traditional SDM showed high suitability and the MM did not, 37% incurred frost damage between anthesis and 1% hull split in at least 20% of years. By comparison, the Nontraditional model showed little area (<3% of the domain) with high suitability (SVI>0.8) where the MM did not also have high suitability.

Secondly, we assessed the mean SVI simulated by each model over croplands binned by almond density (Figure 3.7). Across all almond densities, the MM showed a higher mean SVI than the SDMs. As almond density increases, differences between the MM and SDMs generally decrease, with all models showing very high mean suitability (SVI>0.9) for croplands with almond densities >0.5%. All models showed low average suitability over croplands where almonds are not currently cultivated. However, over croplands without current almond cultivation, high suitability (SVI >0.8) was found in 42%, 10%, and 11% for the MM, Traditional SDM, and Nontraditional SDM, respectively. The MM shows these locations to be predominantly in the greater Sacramento and San Francisco Bay Areas, and along the California-Arizona border, while the SDMs show high suitability areas scattered throughout the Central Valley and the Sierra Foothills east of Sacramento (Supplemental Figure 3.51).

Discussion

The MM showed frost during ecodormancy was a primary thermal constraint to almond cultivation over the broadest spatial extent of the domain, supporting previous research showing frost damage between bud swell and anthesis to be a key limiting factor in almond cultivation around the world (Miranda et al. 2005). Further, while the MM primarily highlights higher elevation regions as being most susceptible to frost, some reduction in SVI in lower elevation valleys, at scales finer than the 4-km resolution of our data, may occur as a function of localized cold air drainage (Dobrowski et al. 2009). However, it should be noted that because the MM accounts for almond failure when T_{min}<T_{frost}, some locations with moderate or low SVI may have higher suitability using less conservative thresholds for T_{frost}, if willing to accept the risk of associated yield declines with frost damage, or if using frost protection measures. Further, later blooming cultivars may mitigate frost damage risk; consequently, the development of late-blooming cultivars is a principal goal in almond breeding (Sorkheh et al. 2009).

Like MMs, SDMs can provide insight into the potential distribution of perennial agriculture such as almonds. In previous work in ecology, agroecology, and ecological modeling (Estes et al. 2013; Hijmans and Graham 2006), SDMs have been shown to produce broadly comparable spatial predictions to MMs (Estes et al. 2013). Our results show that the MM, though designed to produce a conservative model of almond suitability, projects a larger extent of highly suitable lands than do the SDMs, and the most significant differences between the models existed for locations where the current species is absent. These differences are likely a function of the correlative approach used by MaxEnt, which is better able to predict suitability in locations most similar to current almond locations; consequently, the SDMs appoint or restrict suitability as a function of the training data rather than true environmental limitations driven by physiology (Hijmans and Graham 2006). Further, the statistical output provided by MaxEnt (e.g. variable contribution and variable response curves) are also driven by the correlative modeling approach and may not reflect the true importance of or physiological response to the bioclimatic variables incorporated in the model. Though Estes et al. (2013) found SDMs to be a superior approach for modeling maize distribution compared to a MM given that SDMs provide comparable results and require less effort, as a perennial crop, almonds must survive on decadal rather than annual timescales and are thus subject to climate variability that is not captured well by SDMs. Although SDM results may be improved by using physiologically relevant variables, and modeling methods such as MaxEnt provide statistical analysis that can be useful for improving model performance through variable selection and experimentation, MMs are not limited by the biases implicit in a correlative approach and are more capable of accounting for climate variability. Still, that the SDMs projected a more conservative spatial extent of suitability may indicate a weakness in the strictly thermal approach of the MM.

Although attempts were made to address some aspects of climate variability through the use of non-traditional variables (e.g. frost probability) in one SDM, similar to previous findings (Dilts et al. 2015; Estes et al. 2013), the use of non-traditional variables did not significantly improve model performance as measured by AUC; however, disparities in SVI between the SDMs were evident in regions at risk for frost. The Traditional SDM over-predicted suitability in locations shown by the MM to be limited by frost, indicating that the model does not sufficiently capture the processes (e.g. climate extremes and variability) responsible for restricting species viability in these regions (Zimmerman et al. 2009). Conversely, the Nontraditional SDM under-predicted suitability in some of these locations, suggesting that the Nontraditional model's frost tolerance may be overly restrictive. The more conservative geographic range of almond cultivation simulated by the Nontraditional model, and the relative absence of high suitability in locations shown by the MM to be limited by frost, indicate that these variables may be preferred over their Traditional counterparts. Further, the use of nontraditional variables provides insight to almond viability response to changes in mechanistically-relevant variables that are more directly related to agricultural productivity (Hatfield et al. 2014), may be of greater interest to almond growers and others in the agricultural industry (Crane et al. 2010), and may improve explanations of changes in almond distribution in response to climatic changes (Dilts et al. 2015).

Results from all three models show areas of high suitability outside of the current extent of almond cropland, suggesting potential for expanding almond plantations across the Southwest; however, the spatial patterns of potential expansion highlight a number of caveats. High suitability for almond cultivation is modeled for much of the Mojave Desert; however, our models do not account for water availability (e.g. precipitation or the physical and legal infrastructure required for irrigation), thus widespread expansion into such regions is likely to be limited as almond orchards require year-round watering (Johnson and Cody 2015). Additionally, our results do not account for non-climatic restrictions to almond cultivation, such as current land use and socio-economic factors. Many of the high suitability locations outside of the Central Valley occur on Federal or State owned lands and therefore are not available for commercial expansion of almonds. Further, there may be limited opportunity for expansion on existing croplands where almonds are not currently present. For example, while existing croplands to the north of San Francisco (i.e. in Napa Valley) show high suitability for almond cultivation, these locations are currently cultivated with wine grapes and a variety of other high-value crops that are unlikely to be replaced by almond plantations. Finally, we do not account for any sociological or economic considerations that influence growers' management decisions, including grower risk tolerance and cost of cultivation versus profitability (Rougoor et al. 1998).

Though the high species viability simulated by all models over the Central Valley elucidates the geographic hotspot for almond cultivation, divergence in model agreement on potential geographic expansion over existing cultivated lands may give pause to continued expansion of almond orchards in the southwestern US. While increasing almond density in areas already successfully growing the crop may provide a means to increase production, challenges may arise given the potential limitations (climatic, physical, legal, and political) in providing sufficient water for the crop's high water demand. Consequently, although our model results suggest that the geographic expansion of almond in the Southwest may be limited under current climate conditions, both mechanistic and empirical distribution models may be useful in projecting the potential suitability of almond cultivation under future climate. However, given the limitations of the correlative approach of SDMs, we suggest that using an MM is preferable when biophysical limits are known, and that MMs are further advantageous when seeking to understand the physiological mechanisms driving distribution, and/or when assessing opportunities for translocation (Kearney and Porter 2009).

Finally, whereas our results suggest the geographic range is primarily limited by frost risk and insufficient heat accumulation under current climate, the impact of warming temperatures may impact winter chill requirements, and water limitations may become a larger issue across the southwestern US (Luedeling et al. 2009a,b; Averyt et al. 2013). Such prospective changes make it increasingly important to understand the geographic potential for cultivating high value crops beyond their current range, and the strengths and limitations of the modeling techniques used to delineate a cultivar's fundamental niche.

Acknowledgements

We are appreciative of the almond expertise provided by David Doll, and the feedback on early versions of the manuscript from Amber Kerr and Kripa Jagannathan. This research was supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture competitive grant, award number: 2011-68002-30191. We appreciate the constructive feedback from three anonymous reviewers that helped improve the quality of the manuscript.

References

- Abatzoglou JT (2013) Development of gridded surface meteorological data for ecological applications and modelling. International Journal of Climatology 33:121-131
- Aguirre-Gutiérrez J, Carvalheiro LG, Polce C, van Loon EE, Raes N, Reemer M, Biesmeijer JC (2013) Fit-for-purpose: species distribution model performance depends on evaluation criteria–Dutch hoverflies as a case study. PloS One 8:e63708

Almond Board of California (2015) Almond Almanac 2015. <u>http://www.almonds.com/sites/default/files/content/attachments/2015_almanac.pdf.</u> Accessed 1 August 2016

- Araújo MB, Pearson RG (2005) Equilibrium of species' distributions with climate. Ecography 28:693-695
- Averyt K, Meldrum J, Caldwell P, Sun G, McNulty S, Huber-Lee A, Madden N (2013) Sectoral contributions to surface water stress in the coterminous United States. Environmental Research Letters 8:035046
- Boryan C, Yang Z, Mueller R, Craig M (2011) Monitoring US agriculture: the US department of agriculture, national agricultural statistics service, cropland data layer program. Geocarto International 26: 341-358
- Broxton, P.D., Zeng, X., Sulla-Menashe, D., & Troch, P.A. (2014). A Global Land Cover Climatology Using MODIS Data. J. Appl. Meteorology and Climatology, 53, 1593-1605
- Buckley LB, Urban MC, Angilletta MJ, Crozier LG, Rissler LJ, Sears MW (2010) Can mechanism inform species' distribution models?. Ecology Letters 13:1041-1054
- California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) (2013) California Agricultural Statistics Review 2013 Report. <u>http://www.cdfa.ca.gov/statistics/</u> Accessed 10 June 2016
- Challinor AJ, Ewert F, Arnold S, Simelton E, Fraser E (2009) Crops and climate change: progress, trends, and challenges in simulating impacts and informing adaptation. Journal of Experimental Botany 60:2775-2789
- Connell JH, Gradziel TM, Lampinen BD, Micke WC, Floyd J (2010) Harvest maturity of almond cultivars in California's Sacramento Valley. Options Méditerranéennes. Serie A, Seminaires Méditerranéennes,94:19-23
- Covert MM (2011) The influence of chilling and heat accumulation on bloom timing, bloom length, and crop yield. Masters thesis, California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo. doi: 10.15368/theses.2011.222

Crane T, Roncoli C, Paz J, Hoogenboom G (2010) Seasonal climate forecasts and agricultural risk management: the social lives of applied climate technologies, in: S. Drobot, Demuth, J. & Gruntfest, E. (Eds.), Weather and Society * Integrated Studies Compendium, National Center for Atmospheric Research, Boulder, Colorado. http://www.sip.ucar.edu/wasis/compendium.php Accessed 4 August 2016

- Daly C, Halbleib M, Smith JI, Gibson WP, Doggett MK, Taylor GH, Curtis J, Pasteris PP (2008) Physiographically sensitive mapping of climatological temperature and precipitation across the conterminous United States. International Journal of Climatology 28:2031–2064
- Dilts TE, Weisberg PJ, Dencker CM, Chambers JC (2015) Functionally relevant climate variables for arid lands: a climatic water deficit approach for modelling desert shrub distributions. Journal of Biogeography,42:1986-1997
- Dobrowski SZ, Abatzoglou JT, Greenberg JA, Schladow SG (2009) How much influence does landscape-scale physiography have on air temperature in a mountain environment? Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 149:1751-1758
- Dourado-Neto D, Teruel DA, Reichardt K, Nielsen DR, Frizzone JA, Bacchi OOS (1998) Principles of crop modeling and simulation: I. Uses of mathematical models in agricultural science. Scientia Agricola 55(SPE):46-50
- Elith J, Phillips SJ, Hastie T, Dudík M, Chee YE, Yates CJ (2011) A statistical explanation of MaxEnt for ecologists. Diversity and Distributions 17:43-57
- Estes LD, Bradley BA, Beukes H, Hole DG, Lau M, Oppenheimer MG, Schulze R, Tadross MA, Turner WR (2013) Comparing mechanistic and empirical model projections of crop suitability and productivity: implications for ecological forecasting. Global Ecology and Biogeography 22:1007-1018
- Fishman S, Erez A, Couvillon GA (1987) The temperature dependence of dormancy breaking in plants: mathematical analysis of a two-step model involving a cooperative transition. Journal of Theoretical Biology 124:473–483
- Guisan A, Zimmermann NE (2000) Predictive habitat distribution models in ecology. Ecological Modelling 135:147-186
- Hatfield J, Takle G, Grotjahn R, Holden P, Izaurralde RC, Mader T, Marshall E, Liverman D (2014) Ch. 6: Agriculture. In Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate Assessment, Melillo JM, Richmond TC, Yohe GW (Eds.), U.S. Global Change Research Program, 150-174. doi:10.7930/J02Z13FR
- Hijmans RJ, Cameron SE, Parra JL, Jones PG, Jarvis A (2005) Very high resolution interpolated climate surfaces for global land areas. International Journal of Climatology 25:1965-1978
- Hijmans RJ, Graham CH (2006) The ability of climate envelope models to predict the effect of climate change on species distributions. Global Change Biology 12:2272-2281

Howitt R, MacEwan D, Medellín-Azuara J, Lund J, Sumner D (2015) Economic analysis of the 2015 drought for California agriculture. Center for Watershed Sciences, University of California, Davis. <u>https://watershed.ucdavis.edu/files/biblio/Economic_Analysis_2015_California_Drought_M</u> <u>ain_Report.pdf</u> Accessed 12 August 2016

Janick J, Moore JN (1996) Fruit breeding, Nuts (Vol. 3). John Wiley & Sons, New York

- Jiménez-Valverde A, Peterson AT, Soberón J, Overton JM, Aragón P, Lobo JM (2011) Use of niche models in invasive species risk assessments. Biological Invasions 13:2785-2797
- Johnson R, Cody BA (2015) California Agricultural Production and Irrigated Water Use. UNT Digital Library Washington D.C. <u>http://digital.library.unt.edu/ark:/67531/metadc770633/</u> Accessed 26 August 2016
- Kearney M, Porter W (2009) Mechanistic niche modelling: combining physiological and spatial data to predict species' ranges. Ecology Letters 12:334-350
- Leemans R, Solomon AM (1993) Modeling the potential change in yield and distribution of the earth's crops under a warmed climate (No. PB-94-157369/XAB; EPA--600/J-94/158). Environmental Protection Agency, Corvallis, OR (United States)
- Linvill, DE (1990) Calculating chilling hours and chill units from daily maximum and minimum temperature observations. HortScience 25:14-16
- Lobell DB, Burke MB, Tebaldi C, Mastrandrea MD, Falcon WP, Naylor RL (2008) Prioritizing climate change adaptation needs for food security in 2030. Science 319:607-610
- Lobell DB, Field CB (2011) California perennial crops in a changing climate. Climatic Change 109:317-333
- Luedeling E, Brown PH (2011) A global analysis of the comparability of winter chill models for fruit and nut trees. International Journal of Biometeorology 55:411-421
- Luedeling E, Zhang M, Girvetz EH (2009a) Climatic changes lead to declining winter chill for fruit and nut trees in California during 1950–2099. PLoS One 4:e6166
- Luedeling E, Zhang M, Luedeling V, Girvetz EH (2009b) Sensitivity of winter chill models for fruit and nut trees to climatic changes expected in California's Central Valley. Agriculture Ecosystems and Environment 133:23-31
- McKenney DW, Pedlar JH, Lawrence K, Campbell K, Hutchinson MF (2007) Beyond traditional hardiness zones: using climate envelopes to map plant range limits. BioScience 57:929-937
- McMaster GS, Wilhelm WW (1997) Growing degree-days: one equation, two interpretations. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 87:291-300
- Merow C, Smith MJ, Silander JA (2013) A practical guide to MaxEnt for modeling species' distributions: what it does, and why inputs and settings matter. Ecography 36:1058-1069
- Miranda C, Santesteban LG, Royo JB (2005) Variability in the relationship between frost temperature and injury level for some cultivated Prunus species. HortScience 40:357-361
- Mitchell KE, Lohmann D, Houser PR, Wood EF, Schaake JC, Robock A, Cosgrove BA, Sheffield J, Duan Q, Luo L (2004) The multi-institution North American Land Data Assimilation System (NLDAS): Utilizing multiple GCIP products and partners in a continental distributed hydrological modeling system. Journal of Geophysical Research: Atmospheres 109:D07S90

- Parker LE, Abatzoglou JT (2016) Projected changes in cold hardiness zones and suitable overwinter ranges of perennial crops over the United States. Environmental Research Letters 11:034001
- Pearson RG, Dawson TP (2003) Predicting the impacts of climate change on the distribution of species: are bioclimate envelope models useful? Global Ecology and Biogeography 12:361-371
- Phillips SJ, Anderson RP, Schapire RE (2006) Maximum entropy modeling of species geographic distributions. Ecological Modelling 190:231-259
- Phillips SJ, Dudík M (2008) Modeling of species distributions with Maxent: new extensions and a comprehensive evaluation. Ecography 31:161-175
- Polce C, Garratt MP, Termansen M, Ramirez-Villegas J, Challinor AJ, Lappage MG, Boatman ND, Crowe A, Endalew AM, Potts SG, Somerwill KE (2014) Climate-driven spatial mismatches between British orchards and their pollinators: increased risks of pollination deficits. Global Change Biology 20:2815-2828
- Porfirio LL, Harris RM, Lefroy EC, Hugh S, Gould SF, Lee G, Bindoff NL, Mackey B (2014) Improving the use of species distribution models in conservation planning and management under climate change. PLoS One 9:113749
- Rattigan K, Hill SJ (1986) Relationship between temperature and flowering in almond. Australian Journal of Experimental Agriculture 26:399-404
- Roltsch WJ, Zalom FG, Stawn AJ, Strand JF, Pitcairn MJ (1999) Evaluation of several degree-day estimation methods in California Climates. International Journal of Biometeorology 42:169-176
- Rougoor CW, Trip G, Huirne RB, Renkema JA (1998) How to define and study farmers' management capacity: theory and use in agricultural economics. Agricultural Economics 18:261-272
- Snyder RL, Melo-Abreu JP (2005) Frost protection: fundamentals, practice and economics. Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, Rome
- Sorkheh K, Shiran B, Rouhi V, Asadi E, Jahanbazi H, Moradi H, Gradziel TM, Martínez-Gómez P (2009) Phenotypic diversity within native Iranian almond (Prunus spp.) species and their breeding potential. Genetic Resources and Crop Evolution 56:947-961.
- Stöckle CO, Donatelli M, Nelson R (2003) CropSyst, a cropping systems simulation model. European Journal of Agronomy 18:289-307
- Syfert MM, Smith MJ, Coomes DA (2013) The Effects of Sampling Bias and Model Complexity on the Predictive Performance of MaxEnt Species Distribution Models. PLoS One 8:e55158

- Tan SY, Mattes RD (2013) Appetitive, dietary and health effects of almonds consumed with meals or as snacks: a randomized, controlled trial. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 67:1205-1214
- UCIPM. Almond: Identify Hull Split. <u>http://ipm.ucanr.edu/PMG/C003/m003fchullsplit.html</u> Accessed 24 June 2016
- University of California. Regional Almond Variety Trial Progress Report (1996 2006). <u>http://fruitsandnuts.ucdavis.edu/dsadditions/Regional_Almond_Variety_Trials/</u> Accessed 18 January 2017
- US Department of Agriculture. National Agricultural Statistics Service (2016). Data and Statistics. <u>https://www.nass.usda.gov/Data_and_Statistics/index.php</u> Accessed 6 June 2016
- USDA National Agricultural Statistics Service Cropland Data Layer (2014). Published cropspecific data layer. USDA-NASS, Washington, DC. <u>https://nassgeodata.gmu.edu/CropScape/</u> Accessed 6 June 2016
- Vetaas OR (2002) Realized and potential climate niches: a comparison of four Rhododendron tree species. Journal of Biogeography 29:545-554
- Williams AP, Seager R, Abatzoglou JT, Cook BI, Smerdon JE, Cook ER (2015) Contribution of anthropogenic warming to California drought during 2012–2014. Geophysical Research Letters 42:6819-6828
- Woodward FI, Lomas MR, Kelly CK (2004) Global climate and the distribution of plant biomes. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series B: Biological Sciences 359:1465-1476
- Yao S, Merwin IA, Bird GW, Abawi GS, Thies JE (2005) Orchard floor management practices that maintain vegetative or biomass groundcover stimulate soil microbial activity and alter soil microbial community composition. Plant and Soil 271:377-389
- Zavalloni C, Andresen JA, Flore JA (2006) Phenological Models of Flower Bud Stages and Fruit Growth of Montmorency Sour Cherry Based on Growing Degree-day Accumulation. Journal of the American Society for Horticultural Science 131:601-607
- Zimmermann NE, Yoccoz NG, Edwards TC, Meier ES, Thuiller W, Guisan A, Schmatz DR, Pearman PB (2009) Climatic extremes improve predictions of spatial patterns of tree species. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 106(Supplement 2):19723-19728

Tables

Table 3.1 Phenological thresholds used in the MM and their sources

Stage	Model Threshold	Published Range	Source
Cold Hardiness	-25°C		Janick and Moore
			(1996)
Chill Portions	23	23 - 30	Covert (2011)
GDD Base	4.5°C		Rattigan and Hill
Temperature			(1986)
1% Bloom GDD	176 (80% of 50%		RAVT, University of
	bloom GDD)		California (1996-
			2006)
1% Bloom Frost	-15°C (undefined	-15 – -20°C	Janick & Moore
	damage %)		(1996)
50% Bloom GDD	220	220 - 370	Published Range:
			Covert (2011)
50% Bloom Frost	-5.6°C (20%	-6.5 – -3°C (up to	Model Threshold:
	damage)	50% damage)	Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005)
			Published Range:
			Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005), Janick
			and Moore (1996)
100% Bloom GDD	300	300-500	Janick and Moore
			(1996)
100% Bloom Frost	-3.9°C (20%	-5.62.2°C (up to	Model Threshold:
	damage)	75% damage)	Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005)
			Published Range:
			Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005), Janick
			and Moore (1996)

1% Hull-Split GDD	2219	~1900 - 2550	Based on Connell et
			al. (2010)
1% Hull-Split Frost	-2.8°C (19%	-2.80.5°C (up to	Model Threshold:
	damage)	50% damage)	Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005)
			Published Range:
			Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005), Janick
			and Moore (1996)
100% Hull-Split GDD	2750	~2390 - 3100	Based on Connell et
			al. (2010)
100% Hull-Split	-2.8°C (19%	-2.80.5	Model Threshold:
Frost	damage)		Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005)
			Published Range:
			Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005), Janick
			and Moore (1996)
Harvest GDD	3032	~2760 - 3530	Based on Connell et
			al. (2010)

Traditional SDM Variables	Nontraditional SDM Variables	
Average annual temperature (T _{ann})	Average annual growing degree-days (GDD)	
Average annual diurnal range (T _{diurnal})	Average annual freeze-free days (FFD)	
Average annual temperature range (T_{range})	Average frost probability during bloom (FP)	
Average minimum temperature of the	Average annual coldest minimum	
coldest month (TN _{month})	temperature (TN _n)	
Average maximum temperature of the	Average annual warmest maximum	
warmest month (TX _{month})	temperature (TX _x)	
Average temperature of the coldest quarter	Average minimum temperature of the	
(T _{DJF})	coldest quarter (TN _{DJF})	
Average temperature of the warmest	Average maximum temperature of the	
quarter (T _{IJA})	warmest quarter (TX _{JJA})	

Table 3.2 Climatological variables used in the traditional and nontraditional SDMs

Variable	Percent
	Contribution
Tradition	nal SDM
TN _{month}	63.3
TX _{month}	23.9
T _{diurnal}	10.6
T _{DJF}	1.7
T _{ann}	0.4
Trange	0.1
T _{JJA}	0.1
Nontraditi	onal SDM
FP	42.2
TN _{DJF}	30.1
TX _x	10.8
TX _{JJA}	7.3
FFD	4.8
GDD	4.7
TNn	0

Table 3.3 The relative contribution for each variable in the Traditional and Nontraditional species distribution models (SDM)

Figures



Figure 3.1 Overview of the study area, including names of prominent geographic features and cities







Figure 3.3 Species viability index (SVI) for (a) Mechanistic Model (MM), (b) Traditional species distribution model (SDMr), and (c) Nontraditional species distribution model (SDM_{NT})



Figure 3.4 Mechanistic model SVIs for each development stage. SVIs for cold hardiness, chill portion, and GDD accumulation are calculated independently. SVIs for frost damage require the determination of the start and end dates of the development stage and so cannot be calculated independently. Consequently, SVIs for frost damage reflect the fraction of years in which CP and GDD requirements were met and frost did not occur



Figure 3.5 Environmental variable response curves for the Traditional (top row) and Nontraditional (bottom row) species distribution models



Figure 3.6 SVI differences between the mechanistic model and the (a) Traditional (SDM $_{T}$), and (b) Nontraditional (SDM $_{T}$) species distribution models. Red hues indicate that the species distribution model under-predicted SVI relative to the mechanistic model, while blue hues indicate that the species distribution model over-predicted SVI relative to the mechanistic model, highlight areas of more significant model disagreement, differences in SVI of ± 0.1 are masked with white



Figure 3.7 Mean SVI values, binned by almond density, for croplands
Supplemental Figures



Supplemental Figure 3.S1 Cropland (>10% density) locations without current almond cultivation shown to have SVI >0.8 for (a) the mechanistic model (MM), (b) the Traditional species distribution model (SDM_T), and (c) the Nontraditional species distribution model (SDM_T).

CHAPTER 4: SHIFTS IN THE THERMAL NICHE OF ALMOND UNDER CLIMATE CHANGE

As submitted to Climatic Change

Abstract

Delineating how climate change may shift where high-value crops such as almonds can be cultivated provides information for land use and water management planning, and insights to the economic and production considerations necessary to meet consumer demand. A suitability modeling approach was used to map the thermal niche of almond cultivation and the timing of phenological development across the western United States (US) through the mid-21st century. The Central Valley of California remained thermally suitable for almond cultivation in the mid-21st century and opportunities for expansion of the thermal niche for almonds occurred in the northwestern US (NWUS) over the early and mid 21st century, with most of the expansion covering more than 6900-km2 of existing croplands in the Willamette Valley of western Oregon, which is currently limited by insufficient heat accumulation. The primary constraints on almond thermal suitability throughout the mid 21st century for other agricultural regions in the NWUS were frost damage and insufficient heat accumulation. Advancement in the timing of crop maturation was modeled across the region, compressing the growing season for almonds. Almond phenology in the Central Valley showed an approximately 2-week delay in chill accumulation and \sim 1- and \sim 3-week advance in the timing of boom and harvest, respectively. Although other climatic and non-climatic restrictions to almond cultivation may exist in the NWUS, these results highlight opportunities for shifts in the geography of high value cropping systems, which may influence growers' long-term land use decisions, and shape regional water and agricultural industry discussions regarding climate change adaptation options.

Introduction

Climate is a primary control on the geographic distribution of native plants and cultivated crops (Guisan and Zimmermann 2000; Leemans and Solomon 1993). Existing shifts in these distributions have been documented as a function of observed changes in climate (Kelly and Goulden 2008), and future shifts are anticipated as a function of projected climatic changes (Lobell et al. 2006). Although climate change impacts may be mitigated to some extent in horticultural settings (e.g. irrigation, frost protection), such efforts may be a greater challenge for perennial crops (Lobell and Field 2011). Not only are perennial crops subject to climate impacts throughout the year and over their decades-long lifespan, but they are also constrained by the impracticality of employing agricultural decisions used in annual crops such as fallowing. Understanding how future climate changes may alter the geographic distribution of perennial crops provides important information on the viability of future cropping choices, which may inform long-term implications for land use and water management planning, crop yields, and agroeconomics (Lobell et al. 2006).

Climatic drivers behind projected shifts in perennial crop distribution under climate change vary by crop and geography; these climatic drivers may include changes in cold hardiness zone (Parker and Abatzoglou 2016), extreme heat (White et al. 2006), reductions in chilling hours (Luedeling et al. 2009), water availability (Pollock 2015), and increased aridity (Machovina and Feeley 2013). Geographic shifts in the potential distribution of cultivated species have been empirically assessed using correlative species distribution models (SDMs) (Machovina and Feeley 2013) and random forest approaches (Moriondo et al. 2013), as well as assessed using process-based suitability models (SMs) (Morin et al. 2008; White et al. 2006). While both modeling frameworks have merits and shortcomings, previous work has shown they can produce similar results in modeling the distribution of agricultural crops (Estes et al. 2013; Parker and Abatzoglou 2017). However, unlike SDMs, SMs can provide information on crop phenology and climatic limitations specific to individual phenostages, and are not limited by the correlative approach or temporal averaging of environmental conditions. This additional insight into crop phenology is advantageous considering that synchronous phenological timing is necessary for plant-pollinator interactions, and that changes in development timing may influence crop water demands and farm operations (Webb et al. 2007).

Virtually 100% of the commercially grown supply of US almonds – and more than 80% of the global supply – are cultivated in California, comprising more than 10% of California agricultural and ranching income (CDFA 2015). Since 1995, almond acreage in California has

more than doubled from 1,690-km² to 3600-km² (US Department of Agriculture 2015) as a function of increased demand – likely due to reported health benefits of almond consumption (Tan and Mattes 2013) – and high profitability for growers (US Department of Agriculture 2015). Almond acreage increased by more than 400-km² between 2011 and 2015, a period that coincided with the most severe drought in 1200 years in California (Griffin and Anchukaitis 2014). The relatively high water demands of almonds and the inability to fallow perennials has resulted in challenges for growers, both in physically maintaining their orchards (Smith 2014) and in navigating public opinion and water politics within the region (Weiser 2015). While increased water demands due to summer heat can be a challenge during drought years, winter warmth can also pose problems for almond production in terms of decreased yields (Lobell and Field 2011) and increased populations of pests such as navel orangeworm (Luedeling et al. 2011b). Previous work has shown that climate change may escalate the pressure from pests (Luedeling et al. 2011b), shift perennials northward or upslope to cooler climes (Lobell et al., 2006), and increase water scarcity in California (Averyt et al. 2013), indicating that the climaterelated challenges facing growers today will persist into the future.

Similar to California, much of the northwestern United States (NWUS) has wet winters and dry summers ideal for almond cultivation. Nearly one quarter of the land area in the NWUS (Oregon, Washington, and Idaho) is devoted to agricultural production, contributing to hundreds of thousands of jobs and accounting for 3% of regional GDP (Dalton et al. 2013). Broadly, the NWUS is a leader in US production of perennial fruit and nut crops such as cherries, apples, pears, and hazelnuts, with the value of all regional fruit and nut production topping \$4.3 billion US dollars (USD) (US Department of Agriculture 2015). Though almonds are not currently commercially produced in the NWUS, existing NWUS prunus species (e.g. cherries, peaches, plums) are cultivated on more than 200-km² of cropland and produce more than \$540 million USD in sales (US Department of Agriculture 2015). Relative to California, the NWUS is a water rich region with less interannual variability in precipitation, and is projected to see less surface water scarcity under future climate than California (Averyt et al. 2013). Additionally, while warming may prove challenging for some California crops, it is projected to lengthen the growing season (Mote et al. 2014), increase overwinter minimum temperature extremes (Parker and Abatzoglou 2016), and increase heat accumulation in the NWUS (White et al. 2006), allowing for the expansion of perennials currently limited by these climatic factors.

This study builds on previous work examining shifts in high market-value perennials (White et al. 2006) by modeling changes in the potential geographic distribution of the

perennial species *Prunus dulcis* (almond) under future climate. We utilize the SM of Parker and Abatzoglou (2017) to evaluate the viability of almond cultivation based solely on thermal variables, as almonds in the US are irrigated (Lobell and Field 2011) and other limiting conditions (e.g. soils, pests) may be augmented or controlled in agricultural settings (Yao et al. 2005). Specifically, the objectives of this work are to delineate how climate change will alter the geographic distribution of agricultural land suitable to almond for the early- and mid-21st century, identify how thermal controls on almond cultivation vary spatially and temporally, and assess potential shifts in phenological timing of almond development.

Data and Methods

a. Data

Historical maximum and minimum temperature (T_{max} , T_{min}) for the period 1979 – 2014 for the western US [32° – 49° N, 114° – 125° W (Figure 1)] were acquired from the gridded surface meteorological dataset (METDATA) of Abatzoglou (2013). METDATA was created using two datasets: hourly data at ~12km resolution from the North American Land Data Assimilation System Phase 2 (NLDAS-2, Mitchell et al. 2004), and monthly data at ~4km resolution from the Parameter-elevation Regressions on Independent Slopes Model (PRISM, Daly et al. 2008). The resulting 4km resolution gridded daily dataset provides meteorological data at spatial and temporal scales suitable for both local and landscape scale ecological and agricultural modeling.

Statistically downscaled daily T_{max} and T_{min} data were obtained from twenty global climate models (GCMs) participating in the fifth phase of the Climate Model Intercomparison Project (CMIP5) for the historical (1950-2005) and future forcing (2006-2099) experiments. Data were statistically downscaled using the Multivariate Adaptive Constructed Analogs (MACA) method (Abatzoglou and Brown 2012) using training data from METDATA to ensure compatibility between the downscaled historical GCM experiments (1950-2005) and the observed record (1979-2012). We constrained our analysis to model simulations for the early (2010-2039) and mid (2040-2069) 21st century periods. We chose to assess these periods because of the limited ability for developing meaningful management strategies relevant to end-of-century projections. Further, we focus on future experiments run under Representative Concentration Pathway 8.5 (RCP 8.5) given that inter-model variability exceeds inter-scenario variability for these time horizons (Kharin et al. 2013), and emissions trajectories to date have more closely followed RCP 8.5 (Peters et al. 2013). Finally, as SM results calculated using METDATA were comparable to multi-model mean results over the historical model years 1971-2000, we focus on the observed METDATA from 1979-2014 for the contemporary SM runs.

Following Parker and Abatzoglou (2017), almond location data were obtained from the 2015 US Department of Agriculture National Agriculture Statistics Service Cropland Data Layer (CDL), and land cover data from the US Geological Survey Land Cover Institute's MODIS-based Global Land Cover Climatology (LCC). Almond crop and cropland densities at the 4km resolution of the climate data were calculated as the proportion of land classified as almond and cropland by the CDL and LCC, respectively; we consider "almond locations" to be those 4km grid cells with >1% almond density and cropland to be those 4km grid cells with >10% cropland density (Figure 1). These data were not used in the SM but rather were used to visualize and analyze output from the SM in the context of existing cropland.

b. Modeling Almond Development

The multi-year development cycle of almonds (Covert 2011) was simplified for modeling purposes to focus on four stages of reproductive development: endodormancy, ecodormancy, flower development, and hull split. The SM, detailed in Parker and Abatzoglou (2017), utilizes thermal requirements for almond development compiled from published literature and based on field studies and growth chamber experiments; where a range of values for thermal requirements exist within the literature, or when requirements vary by cultivar, the SM uses conservative threshold values and focuses on the Nonpareil cultivar as it is the most widely grown commercial varietal (Supplemental Table 1). The SM begins each year of almond development on November 1, a proxy for the onset of dormancy and the industry standard start date for chill portion accumulation (Covert 2011). the MM accounts for the thermal conditions necessary for almond growth (e.g. growing degree day (GDD) accumulation) as well as thermal conditions that would negatively impact reproductive development (e.g. frost damage), but assumes that water requirements can be met throughout all growth stages via precipitation or irrigation.

Using daily T_{max} and T_{min} , the SM modeled the requirements for sustaining and advancing almond development at an annual time step (November 1 – October 31), with each year simulated independently, over the historical (1979-2014), early, and mid-21st century periods. Each growth stage of each year has the opportunity for failed development, which is

treated as a binary variable though the impact to crop yield (or species viability) varies by growth stage. For example, temperatures below the cold hardiness threshold for almonds may result in tree mortality, whereas temperatures below frost thresholds may result in $\sim 20\%$ crop damage. The SM treats these scenarios equally, as failure during any development stage results in an unviable year for almond cultivation. Over each period of study, the proportion of suitable years to total years for almond cultivation is referred to as the species viability index (SVI), which can be used to facilitate comparisons across space and between time periods. Likewise, the SVI for each individual thermal requirement was calculated to highlight the limiting thermal conditions for almond development. SVI was calculated for each model and time period. We focus on multi-model mean SVI, or the average SVI calculated separately for each model. However, we also assess the robustness of results across models as measured by the number of models with high SVI (SVI >0.8) for each location and time period. High SVI was selected because locations projected to have high future viability are likely to be of greater practical interest to growers and resource managers. Finally, we refined our SVI analysis to those locations with current cropland density >10% in order to highlight suitability in those locations most accessible for cultivation.

In addition to determining the overall suitability for almond cultivation, the SM also tracks almond phenology for each year. Beginning with 1 November, the SM accumulates chill and records the day of the year on which the required CP is accumulated (CPday). The SM begins accumulating GDD on CPday and records the day of the year cumulative GDD reach 1%bloom, 50% bloom (anthesis), 100% bloom, 1% hull split, and 100% hull split thresholds. While additional time on the tree is recommended for almonds after 100% hull split to encourage drying and ease the harvest process, harvest may commence as soon as 100% hull split is reached. Delay in almond harvest after 100% hull split can impact crop quality due to impacts from naval orangeworm, mold, and rain (Connell et al. 2010, Niederholzer 2012). However, to account for some drying time on the tree, as is common in orchard management practices, we estimated the number of days post-hull split to measure harvest timing using observations from the Chico, California Regional Almond Variety Trial (RAVT, Connell et al. 2010). These data suggest an average of 12 days between 100% hull split and harvest, hereafter used in the SM rather than the GDD accumulation threshold for harvest timing as in Parker and Abatzoglou (2017). Experiments showed that this measure of harvest timing increased overall viability, particularly in NWUS locations with milder summer temperatures that fail to reach harvest GDD thresholds (Supplemental Figure 1). We assess the phenology of almond development in

the NWUS by examining the timing of phenostages, with a particular focus on areas shown to be suitable for almond cultivation. We further calculated changes to development timing in primary almond growing regions, defined as those 4km grid cells with high (>40%) almond density; we constrain our analysis in this manner in order to highlight phenological changes in those areas with high production.

Results

a. Climatic Controls on Almond Development

Spring frost and heat accumulation for nut maturation (100% hull split) have historically been the primary limiting factors for almond cultivation across much of the western US outside of current almond locations, including the NWUS (Figure 2, left). While frost risk increased during the final stage of nut maturation in western Oregon for early 21st century model runs, frost risk during bud swell decreased across the inland NWUS where it had historically been a limiting factor for cultivation. Further, warming temperatures by the early 21st century increases heat accumulation necessary for nut maturation across the western NWUS and in the inland agricultural regions of the Columbia Plateau and Snake River Plain (Supplemental Figure 2a). By the mid-21st century, large increases in SVI were shown across the NWUS resulting from reduced frost risk and increased GDD (Supplemental Figure 2b). Although suitability for individual thermal factors increased across the NWUS under future climate scenarios, heat accumulation necessary to reach 100% hull split and frost during bloom onset remain primary thermal limitations, with 65% and 71% of the NWUS showing SVI <0.8 for 100% hull split GDD accumulation and frost at 1% bloom, respectively (Figure 2, right). Thermal suitability remains largely unchanged in California's Central Valley in current almond locations under future climate projections; however, results showed that reduced chill accumulation was primarily responsible for overall SVI reduction in SVI in parts of southern California (Supplemental Figure 2b).

b. Changes in the Geographic Distribution of SVI

Over the historical period, the SM showed high (>0.8) SVI values over California's Central Valley, and across the deserts of southern California, southern Nevada, and western Arizona, as shown in Parker and Abatzoglou (2017). By contrast, no land in the NWUS had high SVI over the historical period (Figure 3a). However, changes in the suitability of individual thermal factors resulted in shifts in overall SVI for both early and mid-century periods. Suitability in California's Central Valley remained high (>0.8) in the early 21st period with increased SVI for portions of southeastern and northwestern California. However, significant declines in suitability were evident over extreme southeastern California along the Arizona and Mexico borders where chill accumulation declined. The NWUS remained unsuitable, with only 0.56% of the region showing SVI >0.8 in localized areas of southwestern Oregon and the northern Willamette Valley by the early 21st century (Figure 3b). Mid 21st century thermal conditions were no longer suitable in extreme southeastern California and along the southern California coast; however, suitability increased over northwestern California and remained unchanged in the Central Valley. Across the NWUS gains in suitability were seen for midcentury period, with nearly 50,000-km² across the NWUS showing SVI >0.8 (Figure 3c).

Multi-model mean results showing high SVI were largely robust across models for both early and mid-21st century periods over California (Supplemental Figure 3). Models showed broad agreement of high SVI over the Central Valley, and at least 80% of models showed high SVI over >99% current almond cultivation locations for both future periods. However, these results were less robust over the NWUS where fewer than 50% of locations with high multimodel mean SVI at mid-century showed agreement across at least 16 of the 20 models. Approximately 3000-km² of land showed high SVI across all models including around 300-km² of current cropland in the northern Willamette Valley, highlighting this area as a hotspot for potential future almond cultivation.

When restricting our analysis of high SVI to current croplands across the domain, results showed that ~34,000-km² of California cropland remained thermally viable into the mid-21st century, including the ~4,200-km² of current almond plantations. By the early 21st century, suitable almond cropland area contracted by ~1,060-km² in southern California and along the California-Arizona border, and expanded by ~600-km² in localized areas in Oregon and northern California. Although an additional 630-km² of southern California croplands were unviable by the mid-21st century, opportunities for expansion by the mid-21st century exceeded range contraction, with more than 6,500-km² of current NWUS croplands becoming viable, including virtually all of the Willamette Valley (Figure 4).

b. Shifts in Phenological Timing

Changes in the timing of almond development were projected for climate change scenarios, with the degree of change varying by phenostage and location (Figure 5). In general,

the date at which chill accumulation requirements were met occurred later with warming, while warming allowed for advancement in phenology in all other phases thereby compressing the almond reproductive cycle. Relative to historical phenology in California's primary almond growing regions, ecodormancy onset (chill accumulation) was modeled to occur approximately 5 and 14 days later by the early and mid-21st century, respectively. Conversely, all other development stages occurred earlier in the year in these locations. Average 50% bloom dates showed the least change in timing by mid-century in California's primary almond growing locations, occurring approximately 6 days and 1 day earlier by the early and mid 21st century, respectively. Maturation (100% hull split) dates in these locations were modeled to occur approximately 10 days and 19 days earlier by the early and mid-21st century, respectively. Finally, phenological timing over NWUS croplands with high suitability at mid-century was compared to historical timing over California's primary almond cultivation locations. Ecodormancy onset and bloom timing over these NWUS locations were comparable to current timing in primary almond growing regions, with mid-century ecodormancy onset occurring 10 days earlier, and 50% bloom dates occurring 10 days later by the mid-21st century. However, mid-21st century nut development over the NWUS remained delayed relative to historical timing over California's primary almond growing regions, with NWUS locations reaching maturity 37 days later.

Discussion

Frost damage is known to be a primary limitation to almond cultivation, particularly early-season frost damage occurring between bud swell and anthesis (Miranda et al. 2005). This was reflected in the SM results for the historical period across much of the study area outside of where almonds are currently produced. Insufficient heat accumulation was also shown to been a historically limiting factor to almond cultivation across the western US, and has similarly been linked to plant distribution and crop cultivation restrictions (Sykes et al. 1996). These two thermal constraints wane across areas that have historically been unsuitable to almond cultivation by the mid-century, in line with projections of decreased spring frost risk (Allstadt et al. 2015) and increased annual heat accumulation (White et al. 2006). Higher SVI may occur where growers have a higher tolerance for risk or the ability to mitigate frost damage (e.g. wind turbine use); conversely, SVI for frost damage may be reduced where cultivation occurs in microclimates subject to cold air drainage at scales finer than the 4-km data used here. While declines in frost risk have been shown to have positive effects on crop productivity (Lobell and Gourdji 2012) and could be expected to have a similar effect on almond yield, declines in winter chill are projected to have detrimental effects on crop yields (Luedeling et al. 2009). Although the low chill requirements of Nonpareil almond limit SVI reductions over current almond cultivation locations, mild winters can result in delayed bloom, unevenly timed hull split and harvest, and result in challenges for orchard management (Doll 2013).

The broad patterns of potential expansion of thermal suitability for almond cultivation in the NWUS are in line with other research that shown geographic expansion of crops under climate change (e.g., Machovina and Feeley 2013; Moriondo et al. 2013). Beyond shifting the geographies of the thermal niche of almond, climate change is projected to alter almond phenology. The phenological shifts modeled by the SM support previous research showing observed (Chmielewski et al. 2004) and modeled (Webb et al. 2007) advancements in crop phenology. Further, paralleling the SM phenology results, other studies examining changes in plant and crop phenology have shown a compression of crop development over the growing season, spatial variability in the magnitude of phenological change, and a greater magnitude of change for later phenostages (Allstadt et al. 2015; Webb et al. 2007). While the advancement of almond phenology may allow for the completion of the development cycle in portions of the NWUS, earlier development of almonds in California may result in a mismatch between tree and pollinator phenology, with potentially deleterious effects on both plant and pollinator populations (Memmott et al. 2007). Similarly, the warming temperatures that result in phenological advances may also cause declines in crop quality, as high temperatures in the month following bloom have been associated with decreased fruit size in *prunus* species (Lopez et al. 2007).

Given that current almond locations remain thermally suitable into the mid-21st century, California's future water limitations (Seager et al. 2013) may be a driver for developing almond cultivation in the NWUS. However, climate change may lead to water challenges in the NWUS as well, with decreased snowpack, earlier runoff, and increased summer evaporative demands (Mote et al. 2014). Such impacts on water availability and irrigated agriculture are sensitive to legal institutions governing water distribution, and irrigated agriculture may see losses in crop revenue as a function of climate change and subsequent declines in water supply (Xu et al. 2014). Further, in locations where almonds might replace crops with lower water requirements, the high water needs of almonds could exacerbate these water resources challenges. Still, increased water use efficiency from rising levels of atmospheric carbon dioxide may curb such potential water shortages and despite potential water resource limitations in the

NWUS, it will likely remain a water secure region relative to California under climate change (Averyt et al. 2013).

In addition to potential water challenges in the NWUS, further limitations to almond cultivation in thermally suitable locations may exist. The shifting geographies of almond suitability may pair with similar niche shifts in – and increased resiliency of – agricultural weeds, pests, and disease, and increased competition for water and nutrient resources (Cavagnaro et al. 2006; McDonald et al. 2009); such changes in biotic interactions may alter orchard management practices and increase reliance on chemical controls, which may have detrimental environmental impacts (Pimentel 1992). Further, the economic costs of crop translocation could be considerable. Crop range expansion or translocation requires significant capital and – in the case of translocation – may have significant impacts on regional income (Luedeling et al. 2011a). Beyond crop production, additional costs would be incurred in transporting crops to centralized processing and distribution facilities.

Although the thermal niche for almonds expanded into the NWUS and the northern Willamette was identified as a hotspot for potential almond cultivation under climate change, that the SM does not account for non-thermal factors governing cultivation potential highlights the need for further research in order to provide a clear and actionable picture for growers regarding environmental suitability and production potential for almonds in novel regions. However, recognizing that thermally-suitable novel cultivation locations for high-value orchard crops are projected to exist within the lifetime of orchards planted today may guide long-term land use and water management planning at the farm and regional scale, inform future development, and perhaps assuage some concerns regarding crop supply and cost.

Acknowledgements

This research was supported by the National Institute of Food and Agriculture competitive grant, award number: 2011-68002-30191.

References

Abatzoglou JT (2013) Development of gridded surface meteorological data for ecological applications and modelling. International Journal of Climatology 33(1):121-131

Abatzoglou JT, Brown TJ (2012) A comparison of statistical downscaling methods suited for wildfire applications. International Journal of Climatology 32:772-80

- Averyt K, Meldrum J, Caldwell P, Sun G, McNulty S, Huber-Lee A, Madden N (2013) Sectoral contributions to surface water stress in the coterminous United States. Environmental Research Letters 8:035046
- California Department of Food and Agriculture (CDFA) (2015) California Agricultural Statistics Review 2015 Report [Online]. Retrieved from <u>http://www.cdfa.ca.gov/statistics/</u>
- Cavagnaro T, Jackson L, Scow K (2006) Climate change: Challenges and solutions for California agricultural landscapes. California Climate Change Center White Paper
- Chmielewski FM, Müller A, Bruns E (2004) Climate changes and trends in phenology of fruit trees and field crops in Germany, 1961–2000. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 121(1):69-78
- Covert MM (2011) The influence of chilling and heat accumulation on bloom timing, bloom length, and crop yield. Masters thesis, California Polytechnic State University, San Luis Obispo. doi: 10.15368/theses.2011.222
- Dalton MM, Mote PW, Snover AK [Eds.] (2013) Climate Change in the Northwest: Implications for Our Landscapes, Waters, and Communities. Washington, DC: Island Press
- Doll D (2013) Winter chill reduction from climate change. The Almond Doctor University of California Cooperative Extension <u>http://thealmonddoctor.com/2013/01/04/winter-chill-reduction-from-climate-change/</u> Accessed 10 March 2017
- Elliott J, Deryng D, Müller C, Frieler K, Konzmann M, Gerten D, Glotter M, Flörke M, Wada Y, Best N, Eisner S (2014) Constraints and potentials of future irrigation water availability on agricultural production under climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111(9):3239-44
- Estes LD, Bradley BA, Beukes H, Hole DG, Lau M, Oppenheimer MG, Schulze R, Tadross MA, Turner WR (2013) Comparing mechanistic and empirical model projections of crop suitability and productivity: implications for ecological forecasting. Global Ecology and Biogeography 22:1007-1018
- Griffin D, Anchukaitis KJ (2014) How unusual is the 2012–2014 California drought? Geophysical Research Letters 41(24), 9017-9023
- Guisan A, Zimmermann NE (2000) Predictive habitat distribution models in ecology. Ecological Modelling 135:147-186
- Kharin VV, Zwiers FW, Zhang X, Wehner M (2013) Changes in temperature and precipitation extremes in the CMIP5 ensemble. Climatic Change 119:345-357
- Kelly AE, Goulden ML (2008) Rapid shifts in plant distribution with recent climate change. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 105(33):11823-6
- Leemans R, Solomon AM (1993) Modeling the potential change in yield and distribution of the earth's crops under a warmed climate (No. PB-94-157369/XAB; EPA--600/J-94/158). Environmental Protection Agency, Corvallis, OR (United States)

- Luedeling E, Girvetz EH, Semenov MA, Brown PH (2011a) Climate change affects winter chill for temperate fruit and nut trees. PloS One 6(5):e20155
- Luedeling E, Steinmann KP, Zhang M, Brown PH, Grant J, Girvetz EH (2011b) Climate change effects on walnut pests in California. Global Change Biology 17(1):228-38
- Luedeling E, Zhang M, Girvetz EH (2009) Climatic changes lead to declining winter chill for fruit and nut trees in California during 1950–2099. PloS One 4(7):e6166
- Lobell DB, Cahill KN, Field CB (2007) Historical effects of temperature and precipitation on California crop yields. Climatic Change 81(2):187-203
- Lobell DB, Field CB (2011) California perennial crops in a changing climate. Climatic Change 109:317-333
- Lobell DB, Field CB, Cahill KN, Bonfils C (2006) Impacts of future climate change on California perennial crop yields: Model projections with climate and crop uncertainties. Agricultural and Forest Meteorology 141(2):208-18
- Lobell DB, Gourdji SM (2012) The influence of climate change on global crop productivity. Plant Physiology 160(4):1686-97
- Lopez G, Johnson R, DeJong T (2007) High spring temperatures decrease peach fruit size. California Agriculture 61(1):31-4
- Machovina B, Feeley KJ (2013) Climate change driven shifts in the extent and location of areas suitable for export banana production. Ecological Economics 95:83-95
- McDonald A, Riha S, DiTommaso A, DeGaetano A (2009) Climate change and the geography of weed damage: analysis of US maize systems suggests the potential for significant range transformations. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 130(3):131-40
- Memmott J, Craze PG, Waser NM, Price MV (2007) Global warming and the disruption of plant– pollinator interactions. Ecology Letters 10(8):710-7
- Mitchell KE, Lohmann D, Houser PR, Wood EF, Schaake JC, Robock A, Bailey AA (2004) The multi-institution North American Land Data Assimilation System (NLDAS): utilizing multiple GCIP products and partners in a continental distributed hydrological modeling system. Journal of Geophysical Research 109:D07S90
- Morin X, Viner D, Chuine I (2008) Tree species range shifts at a continental scale: new predictive insights from a process-based model. Journal of Ecology 96(4):784-94
- Moriondo M, Jones GV, Bois B, Dibari C, Ferrise R, Trombi G, Bindi M (2013) Projected shifts of wine regions in response to climate change. Climatic Change 119(3-4):825-39
- Mote P, Snover AK, Capalbo S, Eigenbrode SD, Glick P, Littell J, Raymondi R, Reeder S (2014) Ch. 21: Northwest. Climate Change Impacts in the United States: The Third National Climate

Assessment, JM Melillo, Terese (TC) Richmond, and GW Yohe, Eds., US Global Change Research Program. 487-513

- Niederholzer F (2012) Coping with rain at harvest. University of California Cooperative Extension <u>http://www.almonds.com/sites/default/files/content/attachments/coping_with_rain_at_har</u> vest.pdf Accessed 4 April 2017
- Parker LE, Abatzoglou JT (2016) Projected changes in cold hardiness zones and suitable overwinter ranges of perennial crops over the United States. Environmental Research Letters 11(3), 034001
- Parker and Abatzoglou (2017) Comparing mechanistic and empirical approaches to modeling the thermal niche of almond. International Journal of Biometeorology
- Peters GP, Andrew RM, Boden T, Canadell JG, Ciais P, Le Quéré C, Wilson C (2013) The challenge to keep global warming below 2°C. Nature Climate Change 3:4-6
- Pimentel D, Acquay H, Biltonen M, Rice P, Silva M, Nelson J, Lipner V, Giordano S, Horowitz A, D'amore M (1992) Environmental and economic costs of pesticide use. BioScience 42(10):750-60
- Pollock, D (2015) "Short water shifting California crops, farming locations." *Western Farm Press* Accessed 19 December 2016
- Seager R, Ting M, Li C, Naik N, Cook B, Nakamura J, Liu H (2013) Projections of declining surface-water availability for the southwestern United States. Nature Climate Change 3(5):482-6
- Smith, S (2014) "California almond farmers face tough choices in face of drought." *Los Angeles Daily News* Accessed 20 December 2016
- Sykes MT, Prentice IC, Cramer W (1996) A bioclimatic model for the potential distributions of north European tree species under present and future climates. Journal of Biogeography 203-233
- Tan SY, Mattes RD (2013) Appetitive, dietary and health effects of almonds consumed with meals or as snacks: a randomized, controlled trial. European Journal of Clinical Nutrition 67(11), 1205-1214
- US Department of Agriculture National Agricultural Statistics Service (2015) 2015 State Agricultural Overview <u>https://www.nass.usda.gov/Statistics_by_State/index.php</u> for California, Washington, Oregon, and Idaho Accessed 14 February 2017
- Vano JA, Scott MJ, Voisin N, Stöckle CO, Hamlet AF, Mickelson KE, Elsner MM, Lettenmaier DP (2010) Climate change impacts on water management and irrigated agriculture in the Yakima River Basin, Washington, USA. Climatic Change 102(1):287-317

- Yao S, Merwin IA, Bird GW, Abawi GS, Thies JE (2005) Orchard floor management practices that maintain vegetative or biomass groundcover stimulate soil microbial activity and alter soil microbial community composition. Plant and Soil 271:377-389
- Webb LB, Whetton PH, Barlow EW (2007) Modelled impact of future climate change on the phenology of winegrapes in Australia. Australian Journal of Grape and Wine Research 13(3):165-75
- Weiser, M (2015) "Lucrative but thirsty almonds come under fire amid drought." *National Geographic* Accessed 21 December 2016
- White MA, Diffenbaugh NS, Jones GV, Pal JS, Giorgi F (2006) Extreme heat reduces and shifts United States premium wine production in the 21st century. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 103(30):11217-22



Almond Densities and Existing Croplands

Figure 4.1 Overview of study area. Grey areas indicate locations with relative cropland densities >10% on a 4-km grid. Yellow to red hues indicate almond density of locations with >1% cultivation density



Figure 4.2 SVIs for key phenostages over the historic, early, and mid-21st century periods. Frost SVIs reflect the percent of years without frost damage at any time between ecodormancy onset and 100% hull split



Figure 4.3 SVI over the (a) historical, (b) early 21st century, and (c) mid 21st century periods.



Figure 4.4 The relative expansion and contraction of the high suitability (SVI>0.8) range of almond over locations with current cropland densities >10%. Grey indicates high suitability over all periods, while blue hues indicate contraction and red hues indicate expansion. Light blue are locations with historical SVI>0.8 but a reduction below high suitability by the early century; dark blue are locations with historical and early SVI>0.8 but mid-century SVI reductions below high suitability; light red are locations that became suitable (SVI>0.8) by the early century, while dark red locations did not become suitable until the mid-21st century.



Figure 4.5 The timing of three representative phenostages – chill accumulation (top row), 50% bloom (middle row), 100% hull split (bottom row) – over the historical, early, and mid century periods.

Supplemental Tables

Stage	Model Threshold	Published Range	Source
Cold Hardiness	-25°C		Janick and Moore
			(1996)
Chill Portions	23	23 - 30	Covert (2011)
GDD Base	4.5°C		Rattigan and Hill
Temperature			(1986)
1% Bloom GDD	176 (80% of 50%		RAVT, University of
	bloom GDD)		California (1996-
			2006)
1% Bloom Frost	-15°C (undefined	-15 – -20°C	Janick & Moore
	damage %)		(1996)
50% Bloom GDD	220	220 - 370	Published Range:
			Covert (2011)
50% Bloom Frost	-5.6°C (20%	-6.5 – -3°C (up to	Model Threshold:
	damage)	50% damage)	Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005)
			Published Range:
			Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005), Janick
			and Moore (1996)
100% Bloom GDD	300	300-500	Janick and Moore
			(1996)
100% Bloom Frost	-3.9°C (20%	-5.62.2°C (up to	Model Threshold:
	damage)	75% damage)	Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005)
			Published Range:
			Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005), Janick
			and Moore (1996)

Supplemental Table 4.1. Phenological thresholds used in the SM and their sources.

1% Hull-Split GDD	2219	~1900 - 2550	Based on Connell et
			al. (2010)
1% Hull-Split Frost	-2.8°C (19%	-2.80.5°C (up to	Model Threshold:
	damage)	50% damage)	Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005)
			Published Range:
			Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005), Janick
			and Moore (1996)
100% Hull-Split GDD	2750	~2390 - 3100	Based on Connell et
			al. (2010)
100% Hull-Split	-2.8°C (19%	-2.80.5	Model Threshold:
Frost	damage)		Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005)
			Published Range:
			Snyder and Melo-
			Abreu (2005), Janick
			and Moore (1996)
Harvest DAY	100% Hull-Split Day	1 – 25	Based on Connell et
	+ 12 days		al. (2010)
Harvest GDD	3032	~2760 - 3530	Based on Connell et
			al. (2010)

With the exception of Harvest DAY, this table is as it appears in Chapter 3. For full citations from Table 4.1 sources, please refer to Chapter 3 References.











Supplemental Figure 4.S5 Robustness of projected SVI as defined by the number of models showing SVI >0.8 over the (a) early- and (b) mid-21st century periods

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSIONS

Concluding Thoughts and Future Research Needs

Climate change presents significant challenges to sustaining agricultural production sufficient to meet growing global food demands, and these challenges are highlighted in the cultivation of perennial orchard crops, which are subject to potentially adverse environmental conditions year-round and over their decades-long lifespans. While previous studies have shown climate change to result in reductions in crop yield in current crop cultivation locations (Lobell et al. 2006; Lobell and Field 2007; Schlenker and Roberts 2009), the ability of high-value perennials such as almonds to be cultivated beyond their current range under climate change had not been previously explored.

This dissertation addresses this knowledge gap through examining thermal metrics relevant to the geographies of agricultural production. Chapter 2 of this dissertation examined climate change impacts on winter average minimum temperatures, winter extreme minimum temperatures, and USDA cold hardiness zones (CHZs), which provide a common measure of assessing climatic suitability for crop cultivation in a given location. While future temperature projections resulted in a warming of average minimum winter temperatures by the mid-21st century, the differential warming of winter extreme minimum temperatures resulted in a northward shift of CHZs and an expansion in the suitable overwinter range for several perennial tree crops. In chapter 3, almonds were introduced as a high-value perennial crop for further study and additional thermal drivers of suitable crop range were considered in two modeling approaches for estimating the potential distribution of the species. While the empirical species distribution modeling (SDM) approach provided comparable spatial results to the more complex and computationally intensive mechanistic modeling (MM) approach, the limitations of the correlative approach of the SDM may yield results driven by climatological similarity rather than physiological function. Conversely, the MM not only provides an ability to investigate the relationships between climate, phenology, and physiology, but is also better suited to capture the impacts of interannual climate variability on crop cultivation. As chapter 3 concludes that MMs are preferable for assessing climate change impacts on perennial crop cultivation, chapter 4 utilizes the MM developed in chapter 3 to examine how climate change may influence the thermal drivers of almond distribution, and how climate change may alter almond phenology and the geography of almond cultivation. Chapter 4 concludes that warming temperatures will alter almond's phenological timing, and while reductions in winter chill may

yield a contraction of suitable area for almond cultivation in southern California, decreased frost risk and increased heat accumulation across much of the western US will largely generate a geographic expansion of almond's thermal niche. The projected area of expansion includes more than 12,000-km² of cropland and highlights the northern Willamette Valley as a potential hotspot for future almond production.

Though this research explored the thermal potential for agricultural expansion, a multitude of factors important to crop production were not considered. Specifically, water supply, water security, and irrigation infrastructure (both physical and legal) are key to orchard crop cultivation and are likely to be impacted by climate change (Averyt et al. 2013; Elliot et al. 2014; Vano et al. 2010; Xu et al. 2014). Further, biotic interactions within the orchard system can influence the success of crop cultivation and the management practices necessary to ensure high quality and high quantity yields. Climate change may result in a mismatch in crop phenology and pollinator life cycles (Polce et al. 2014), and may also prompt increased pest and disease damage barring alterations in orchard management (Cavagnaro et al. 2006). Finally, non-environmental factors such as competing land use, cultural and political influence on agricultural systems, and economic incentives were not quantified though these elements all inform the practicality of crop production (Luedeling et al. 2011). To begin to address some of these issues, future research will be conducted to determine what the additional water demands for almonds may be under future climate scenarios, and how land use and climate changes may influence water demands and availability in the Central Valley of California and across the Northwest more broadly.

While the potential for translocation of crops may exist under future thermal conditions, providing a potential boon for regional economics and opportunities for maintaining stability in food supply, the significant knowledge gaps outlined above limit our understanding of the true capacity for novelty crop cultivation. Although some components of the food production system not considered here – such as soil characteristics, precipitation, evapotranspiration, and competing land use – may be built into future model iterations and allow for an improved picture of cultivation potential, the complexities of food production will still require collaborative efforts across multiple disciplines in order to develop a more complete picture of the adaptive capacity of perennial agriculture in the face of climate change.

References

- Averyt K, Meldrum J, Caldwell P, Sun G, McNulty S, Huber-Lee A, Madden N (2013) Sectoral contributions to surface water stress in the coterminous United States. *Environmental Research Letters* 8(3):035046
- Cavagnaro T, Jackson L, Scow K (2006) Climate change: Challenges and solutions for California agricultural landscapes. California Climate Change Center White Paper
- Elliott J, Deryng D, Müller C, Frieler K, Konzmann M, Gerten D, Glotter M, Flörke M, Wada Y, Best N, Eisner S (2014) Constraints and potentials of future irrigation water availability on agricultural production under climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 111(9):3239-44
- Lobell DB, Field CB (2007) Global scale climate-crop yield relationships and the impacts of recent warming. *Environmental Research Letters* 2(1):014002
- Lobell DB, Field CB, Cahill KN, Bonfils C (2006) Impacts of future climate change on California perennial crop yields: Model projections with climate and crop uncertainties. *Agricultural and Forest Meteorology* 141(2):208-218
- Luedeling E, Girvetz EH, Semenov MA, Brown PH (2011a) Climate change affects winter chill for temperate fruit and nut trees. PloS One 6(5):e20155
- Schlenker W, Roberts MJ (2009) Nonlinear temperature effects indicate severe damages to US crop yields under climate change. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 106(37):15594-8
- Vano JA, Scott MJ, Voisin N, Stöckle CO, Hamlet AF, Mickelson KE, Elsner MM, Lettenmaier DP (2010) Climate change impacts on water management and irrigated agriculture in the Yakima River Basin, Washington, USA. *Climatic Change 102*(1):287-317
- Xu W, Lowe SE, Adams RM (2014) Climate change, water rights, and water supply: The case of irrigated agriculture in Idaho. *Water Resources Research 50*(12):9675-95

APPENDIX A

A mathematical expression of the mechanistic model presented in Chapter 2

For a given location *x*, for each year *t*, the mechanistic model functions as follows

$$chz = \begin{cases} TN_n \leq -25^{\circ}C, & 0 \\ TN_n > -25^{\circ}C, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$cp = \begin{cases} CP_{cum} < 23, & 0 \\ CP_{cum} \geq 23, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$sb = \begin{cases} GDD^{\circ}C < 176, & 0 \\ GDD^{\circ}C \geq 176, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$sbf = \begin{cases} sb = 1 \land T_{min(cp:sb)} \leq -15^{\circ}C, & 0 \\ sb = 1 \land T_{min(cp:sb)} > -15^{\circ}C, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$hb = \begin{cases} GDD^{\circ}C < 220, & 0 \\ GDD^{\circ}C \geq 220, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$hbf = \begin{cases} hb = 1 \land T_{min(sb:hb)} \leq -5.6^{\circ}C, & 0 \\ hb = 1 \land T_{min(sb:hb)} > -5.6^{\circ}C, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$fbf = \begin{cases} fb = 1 \land T_{min(sb:hb)} \leq -3.9^{\circ}C, & 1 \\ fb = 1 \land T_{min(sb:hb)} > -3.9^{\circ}C, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$hsf = \begin{cases} GDD^{\circ}C < 2219, & 0 \\ GDD^{\circ}C \geq 2219, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$hsf = \begin{cases} GDD^{\circ}C < 2219, & 0 \\ BDD^{\circ}C \geq 2219, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$hsf = \begin{cases} hs = 1 \land T_{min(hb:fs)} \leq -2.8^{\circ}C, & 0 \\ hs = 1 \land T_{min(hb:hs)} > -2.8^{\circ}C, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$hff = \begin{cases} GDD^{\circ}C < 2750, & 0 \\ GDD^{\circ}C \geq 2750, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$hff = \begin{cases} hff = 1 \land T_{min(hs:hf)} \leq -2.8^{\circ}C, & 0 \\ hff = 1 \land T_{min(hs:hf)} > -2.8^{\circ}C, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$hfff = \begin{cases} hff = 1 \land T_{min(hs:hf)} > -2.8^{\circ}C, & 1 \\ hff = 1 \land T_{min(hs:hf)} > -2.8^{\circ}C, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$hfff = \begin{cases} GDD^{\circ}C < 3032, & 0 \\ GDD^{\circ}C \geq 3032, & 1 \end{cases}$$

$$MM(x, t) = \{chz * cp * sb * sbf * hb * hbf * fb * fbf * hs * hsf * hf * hff * har$$

where

- chz assesses cold hardiness suitability based on the coldest minimum temperature of the year, TN_n

- *cp* assesses chill accumulation based on cumulative chilling portions between November 1 and March 31 (CP_{cum}), as calculated using the dynamic chill model (Luedeling et al 2009b)
- sb assesses heat accumulation needed to reach 1% bloom, where GDD°C is the annual accumulated growing degree days between November 1 and October 31, as calculated using T_{base} of 4.5°C
- *sbf* assess frost risk at half bloom, as determined by daily T_{min} between the completion of chill accumulation and 1% bloom (cp:sb)
- *hb* assesses heat accumulation needed to reach half bloom, as in *sb*
- *hbf* assesses frost risk at half bloom, as determined by daily T_{min} between 1% bloom and half bloom (sb:hb)
- *fb* assesses heat accumulation needed to reach full bloom, as in *hb*
- *fbf* assesses frost risk at full bloom, as determined by daily T_{min} between half bloom and full bloom (hb:fb)
- *hs* assesses heat accumulation needed to reach the onset of hull split (1% hull split), as in *hb*
- *hsf* assesses frost risk at 1% hull split, as determined by daily T_{min} between full bloom and 1% hull split (fb:hs)
- *hf* assesses heat accumulation needed to reach the completion of hull split (100% hull split), as in *hb*
- *hff* assesses frost risk at 100% hull split, as determined by daily T_{min} between 1% hull split and 100% hull split (hs:hf)
- *har* assesses heat accumulation needed to dry nuts sufficiently for harvest, as in *hb*
- *MM(x,t)* assesses the viability for almond cultivation for location *x* in year *t* as determined by the product of each individual development stage, where a value of 1 for each development stage indicates a viable year *t* for location *x*, while a value of 0 for any development stage results in an unviable year.

APPENDIX B

Copyright and Permissions

Copyright and Permissions, Chapter 2, IOP Science Publishing

Copyright and permissions for Chapter 2, as published in Environmental Research Letters.

Parker LE, Abatzoglou JT (2016) Projected changes in cold hardiness zones and suitable overwinter ranges of perennial crops over the United States. Environmental Research Letters 11(3):034001 doi:10.1088/1748-9326/11/3/034001



IOP Publishing © Copyright 2017 IOP Publishing Terms & conditions Disclaimer Privacy & cookie policy 🖄 This site uses cookies. By continuing to use this site you agree to our use of cookies

Page available online at

http://iopscience.iop.org/journal/1748-9326/page/Copyright%20&%20permissions

Copyright and Permissions, Chapters 3 and 4, Springer International Publishing

Copyright transfer agreements for Chapter 3, forthcoming in International Journal of Biometeorology

Parker LE, Abatzoglou JT (2017) Comparing mechanistic and empirical approaches to modeling the thermal niche of almond. International Journal of Biometeorology

and Chapter 4, submitted to Climatic Change

Parker LE, Abatzoglou JT (in review) Shifts in the thermal niche of almond under climate change. Climatic Change

Copyrigh	nt
Transfer	Statement

The copyright to this article is transferred to Springer (respective to owner if other than Springer and for U.S. government employees: to the extent transferable) effective if and when the article is accepted for publication. The author warrants that his/her contribution is original and that he/she has full power to make this grant. The author signs for and accepts responsibility for releasing this material on behalf of any and all co-authors. The copyright transfer covers the exclusive right and license to reproduce, publish, distribute and archive the article in all forms and media of expression now known or developed in the future, including reprints, translations, photographic reproductions, microform, electronic form (offline, online) or any other reproductions of similar nature.

An author may self-archive an author-created version of his/her article on his/her own website and or in his/her institutional repository. He/ she may also deposit this version on his/her funder's or funder's designated repository at the funder's request or as a result of a legal obligation, provided it is not made publicly available until 12 months after official publication. He/ she may not use the publisher's PDF version, which is posted on www.springerlink.com, for the purpose of selfarchiving or deposit. Furthermore, the author may only post his/her version provided acknowledgement is given to the original source of publication and a link is inserted to the published article on Springer's website. The link must be accompanied by the following text: "The final publication is available at www.springerlink.com".

Prior versions of the article published on non-commercial pre-print servers like arXiv.org can remain on these servers and/or can be updated with the author's accepted version. The final published version (in pdf or html/xml format) cannot be used for this purpose. Acknowledgement needs to be given to the final publication and a link should be inserted to the published article on Springer's website, accompanied by the text "The final publication is available at springerlink.com".

The author retains the right to use his/her article for his/her further scientific career by including the final published Journal article in other publications such as dissertations and postdoctoral qualifications provided acknowledgement is given to the original source of publication.

The author is requested to use the appropriate DOI for the article. Articles disseminated via www.springerlink.com are indexed, abstracted and referenced by many abstracting and information services, bibliographic networks, subscription agencies, library networks, and consortia.

After submission of the agreement signed by the corresponding author, changes of authorship or in the order of the authors listed will not be accepted by Springer.

Journal: International Journal of Biometeorology

Title of article: Comparing empirical and mechanistic approaches to modeling the thermal niche of almond

Author(s): Lauren E Parker and John T Abatzoglou

Author's signature:

Left Digitally signed by Lauren Parker Date: 2017.03.15 15:08:24-07:00

🖉 Springer

7434 wmxdesign 01/10

Date: 03/15/2017

The copyright to this article is transferred to Springer (respective to owner if other than Springer and for U.S. government employees: to the extent transferable) effective if and when the article is accepted for publication. The author warrants that his/her contribution is original and that he/she has full power to make this grant. The author signs for and accepts responsibility for releasing this material on behalf of any and all co-authors. The copyright transfer covers the exclusive right and license to reproduce, publish, distribute and archive the article in all forms and media of expression now known or developed in the future, including reprints, translations, photographic reproductions, microform, electronic form (offline, online) or any other reproductions of similar nature.

An author may self-archive an author-created version of his/her article on his/her own website and or in his/her institutional repository. He/ she may also deposit this version on his/her funder's or funder's designated repository at the funder's request or as a result of a legal obligation, provided it is not made publicly available until 12 months after official publication. He/ she may not use the publisher's PDF version, which is posted on www.springerlink.com, for the purpose of selfarchiving or deposit. Furthermore, the author may only post his/her version provided acknowledgement is given to the original source of publication and a link is inserted to the published article on Springer's website. The link must be accompanied by the following text: "The final publication is available at www.springerlink.com".

Prior versions of the article published on non-commercial pre-print servers like arXiv.org can remain on these servers and/or can be updated with the author's accepted version. The final published version (in pdf or html/xml format) cannot be used for this purpose. Acknowledgement needs to be given to the final publication and a link should be inserted to the published article on Springer's website, accompanied by the text "The final publication is available at springerlink.com".

The author retains the right to use his/her article for his/her further scientific career by including the final published Journal article in other publications such as dissertations and postdoctoral qualifications provided acknowledgement is given to the original source of publication.

The author is requested to use the appropriate DOI for the article. Articles disseminated via www.springerlink.com are indexed, abstracted and referenced by many abstracting and information services, bibliographic networks, subscription agencies, library networks, and consortia.

After submission of the agreement signed by the corresponding author, changes of authorship or in the order of the authors listed will not be accepted by Springer.

Journal: Climatic Change

Title of article: Shifts in the thermal niche of almond under climate change

Author(s): Lauren E Parker and John T Abatzoglou

Author's signature:

Left Digitally signed by Lauren Parker Date: 2017/03.15 15:08:24-07/00

Springer

7434 wmxdesign 01/10

Date: 03/15/2017